NCLC® NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER®

OPPORTUNITY DENIED

How HUD's Note Sale Program Deprives Homeowners of the Basic Benefits of Their Government-Insured Loans

May 2016

By

Geoff Walsh National Consumer Law Center[®] © Copyright 2016, National Consumer Law Center, Inc. All rights reserved.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Geoff Walsh is a staff attorney at the National Consumer Law Center (NCLC) who focuses on foreclosure prevention, consumer bankruptcy, and other consumer credit issues. He has provided written testimony and engaged in policy advocacy at the federal and state levels on foreclosure topics. He has served as a panelist and instructor at trainings and legal education seminars on foreclosure prevention and bankruptcy topics. Walsh is co-author of *Foreclosures and Mortgage Servicing, Foreclosure Prevention Counseling, Student Loan Law,* and *Credit Discrimination.* Walsh previously worked as an attorney with Vermont Legal Aid, Inc. in Springfield, Vt. from 1991 to 2008, specializing in housing, consumer, and bankruptcy areas. From 1980 to 1991, he worked as a staff attorney with Community Legal Services, Inc. in Philadelphia, Pa., where he also specialized in housing and consumer litigation. Walsh earned his B.A. from University of Michigan and is a graduate of Temple University Law School.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to Alys Cohen of NCLC and Steven Sharpe of the Legal Aid Society of Southwest Ohio LLC, who contributed substantially to the drafting of this report. Thanks also to Rachel Labush of Community Legal Services in Philadelphia for her valuable assistance in researching case information from the Philadelphia Foreclosure Diversion Program. Rachel Bushman, former fellow at NCLC; Diane Cipollone, consultant to the National Fair Housing Alliance; and Anthony Mohen of Grow Brooklyn, Inc., assisted with collection and analysis of documents related to the DASP program. Thanks also to Carolyn Carter and Jan Kruse of NCLC for editorial assistance, and Sarah Edelman of the Center for American Progress for review and comments. Julie Gallagher provided layout and design assistance.

NCLC® NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER®

ABOUT THE NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER

Since 1969, the nonprofit National Consumer Law Center® (NCLC®) has used its expertise in consumer law and energy policy to work for consumer justice and economic security for low income and other disadvantaged people, including older adults, in the United States. NCLC's expertise includes policy analysis and advocacy; consumer law and energy publications; litigation; expert witness services, and training and advice for advocates. NCLC works with nonprofit and legal services organizations, private attorneys, policymakers, and federal and state government and courts across the nation to stop exploitive practices, help financially stressed families build and retain wealth, and advance economic fairness.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

REPORT HIGHLIGHTS
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
I. FOR DECADES, HUD'S FHA PROGRAM HAS PLAYED A CENTRAL ROLE IN AFFORDABLE HOMEOWNERSHIP
II. BACKGROUND ON THE DISTRESSED ASSET STABILIZATION PROGRAM (DASP)1010
A. HUD's Launch of the DASP Program10
<i>B. Foreclosure Mediation Programs Reveal DASP's Impact on Enforcement of FHA Loss Mitigation Guidelines</i> 12
III. DASP'S PRIMARY ROLE IS TO MANAGE SERVICERS' FORECLOSURE DELAYS
A. HUD Failed to Stop Servicer Delays and Then Responded with DASP
B. HUD's Requirements for Processing Foreclosures Are Sidestepped by Servicers Selling Loans Into DASP
C. Servicers Delayed Foreclosures in Key States after Their Systematic Mishandling of Foreclosure Proceedings Was Exposed
D. HUD Recognized the Need to Protect the FHA Insurance Fund from the Impact of Servicers' Foreclosure Delays
E. DASP Responded to the Foreclosure Delays
F. DASP Undermined HUD's Helpful Revisions to its Loss Mitigation Guidelines 27
G. HUD's Troubling Shift to Payment of Insurance Claims Without Foreclosure28 H. What Might Have Been: HUD's Missed Opportunity to Apply its Improved Loss
Mitigation Program to the Backlog of Foreclosure Crisis Cases
I. HUD's Loan Sale Program During the 1990s Showed that HUD Can Set Standards for Distressed Loan Buyers
IV. ASSESSING DASP'S IMPACT ON HOMEOWNERS
A. The Evidence Does Not Show that DASP Helps Homeowners
B. The Changes to DASP HUD Announced in 2015 Contain No Specific Resolutions to Long-Standing Problems with the Program
C. Most FHA Loans Are Sold By the Servicers Who Caused Major Foreclosure Delays
D. Most DASP Purchasers Are Private Equity Firms and Hedge Funds

V. REC	OMMENDATIONS
1. E	nhance Loss Mitigation Compliance
2. Ir	nprove Buyer Oversight
VI. CO	NCLUSION
ENDNO	DTES
GRAPH	HICS
Tab	le 1
	A Distressed Asset Stabilization Program Cases in the Philadelphia diation Program (June–October 2014)
Tab	le 2
	A Foreclosure Time Frames in Ten Judicial Foreclosure States with gest Foreclosure Time (by Months)
Tab	le 3
	A Foreclosure Time Frames in Ten Non-Judicial Foreclosure States with rtest Foreclosure Time (by Months)
Cha	art 1
	nual Percentage Change in Scheduled Foreclosure Auctions of October 2014)
Cha	art 2
Тор	10 Loan Buyers of FHA Defaulted DASP Loans

REPORT HIGHLIGHTS

- 1. HUD's loan sale program, the Distressed Asset Stabilization Program (DASP), has had a major negative impact on vulnerable homeowners and on federal housing funds. DASP is the largest auctioning off of government-insured single family mortgage loans in the nation's history. To date, under DASP, HUD has sold over 105,000 FHAinsured home loans valued at \$17 billion, and the private firms that bought most of the loans acquired them at a significant discount. FHA-insured mortgages represent the last recourse for middle and lower income American families, and particularly families of color, who seek to achieve homeownership at reasonable terms.
- 2. A few large mortgage servicers caused the problem that DASP was created to fix. HUD started DASP when the FHA insurance fund faced unprecedented budgetary challenges. A few large mortgage servicers, including Bank of America, Wells Fargo, and JP Morgan Chase, deliberately delayed foreclosures of FHA-insured mortgages. HUD needed to cut further losses and decided to sell off the loans rather than wait for servicers to complete the foreclosures.
- 3. **HUD has not held the servicers accountable for the problems they caused.** Even though the servicers' delays of foreclosure violated HUD timelines, HUD paid off the servicers' insurance claims when they offered their loans for DASP sales. HUD paid off claims of servicers who had not followed HUD's rules that require completion of loss mitigation reviews for homeowners before foreclosures.
- 4. HUD failed to pursue other options for preserving the financial integrity of the FHA insurance fund, including making its servicers follow FHA's loss mitigation rules. Vigorous enforcement of HUD's loss mitigation requirements for servicers would have allowed homeowners to reinstate loans to performing status. Effective use of FHA's loss mitigation tools reduces losses to the insurance fund and preserves homeownership
- 5. DASP undercuts state foreclosure laws that help preserve homeownership and further HUD's housing goals. Many state foreclosure laws require that the servicer establish valid authority to foreclose and consider homeowners for alternatives to foreclosure. DASP has allowed servicers to remove cases from the state law foreclosure process instead of complying with these laws.
- 6. HUD has systematically excluded the affected homeowners from any role in the DASP loan sale process. Homeowners who are directly affected by mortgage servicers' practices are in the best position to inform HUD that the servicers are not complying with HUD's rules. HUD has repeatedly rejected demands that it require notices to homeowners before their loans are sold through DASP.
- 7. **DASP has not helped homeowners in any significant way.** HUD's initial claims that DASP would help homeowners by allowing the buyers of the loans to offer generous loan modifications has not been substantiated by any evidence.
- 8. HUD's reliance on financial speculators to generate quick cash has not furthered the policy goals of the FHA program. Private equity funds and hedge funds are the primary buyers of defaulted FHA loans. These speculators' interest is to maximize profits upon resale of the loans they buy. They do not act to further the goals of preserving homeownership for middle-class Americans, a goal that Congress directed HUD to achieve. HUD has not implemented effective measures to ensure that these buyers further national housing policy goals.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development's (HUD's) program for selling defaulted Federal Housing Administration (FHA) loans is the largest auctioning off of gov-

To date, under DASP, HUD has sold off mortgage loans with unpaid principal balances totaling over \$17 billion. ernment-insured home mortgage loans in the nation's history, and it directly impacts low- and moderate-income homeowners. As a result of this series of auctions, known as the Distressed Asset Stabilization Program (DASP), many homeowners have lost the government backing of their loans, along with a wide array of tools that provide help in times of financial stress. To date, under DASP, HUD has sold off mortgage loans with unpaid principal balances totaling over \$17 billion. While HUD has justified the sales as being a winwin for homeowners and its own insurance fund, the reality is that, in many cases, loans sold through the sales would have fared better

and cost the insurance fund less if basic FHA rules were applied to address the defaults and loan sales were avoided. What's more, the DASP sales have provided financial benefits to the same servicers (many of them large banks) who sidestepped FHA's rules, absolving them of any responsibility for the servicing problems they created. Instead, HUD allowed the loans to be used as a source of profit.

DASP's launch coincided with HUD's improvements to its loss mitigation options for homeowners facing financial hardship. Because many loans were processed through DASP without completion of FHA's loss mitigation review requirements, DASP undermined HUD's own home retention guidelines. Many homeowners who have sought loan modifications after their loans were sold have found that the speculators who bought the loans offered few to no affordable options. A more balanced approach of enforcing the FHA loss mitigation rules and resorting to loan sales only after the options under the rules are exhausted would yield better outcomes for homeowners, communities, taxpayers, and the FHA program.

National Consumer Law Center's (NCLC) review of cases during a short time period in 2014 found a pattern of homeowners having their loans sold through DASP even though they were in the process of working with a major FHA servicer, Bank of America, to obtain loss mitigation reviews. In fact, 23 Philadelphia homeowners with FHA-insured loans serviced by Bank of America were appearing for court-supervised settlement conferences when their loans were sold; several of the homeowners had met numerous times with the bank's representatives, some of them for five, six, or even as many as nine conference sessions. Neither Bank of America nor HUD informed the homeowners that their loans were going to be sold or that their protections under FHA rules would no longer be recognized. The homeowners discovered the facts only after the sales took place. The DASP sales happened while Bank of America's representatives were continuing to request information and process forms for FHA loss mitigation options. None of the homeowners received a final decision as to whether they qualified for FHA loss mitigation assistance. None of them ever received an FHA loss mitigation option.

Through the FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (the Fund), HUD insures private mortgage lenders against losses in order to encourage the lenders to make loans to low and moderate income households. HUD operates the Fund with a mandate from

Congress "to meet the housing needs of the borrowers that the single family mortgage insurance program under this subchapter is designed to serve." In exchange for the insurance, FHA-insured lenders must satisfy specific loss mitigation rules created to avoid unnecessary foreclosures. HUD has designed specific alternatives to foreclosure that lenders and their servicers must consider before they proceed with foreclosures.

Historically, mortgage lenders have only received FHA insurance proceeds *after* completing the foreclosure sale process, and evaluation for loss mitigation was always a precondition to foreclosure. DASP changes the timing of the insurance pay-out in an important way. Under DASP, HUD takes over ownership of the loans and pays off the FHA insurance claims *before* foreclosure takes place. The claims cover losses the loan's owners incurred as a result of the homeowners' default. So far through DASP, HUD has used the Fund to pay off claims for over 105,000 FHA-insured mortgage loans. None of these loans went through foreclosure before HUD auctioned them off. The private equity firms and hedge funds that bought most of the loans at DASP sales acquired them at significant discounts.

DASP is a fire sale that did not have to take place. The actions of a few large mortgage servicers, primarily Bank of America, Wells Fargo, and JP Morgan Chase, caused the long foreclosure delays that led HUD to implement DASP. HUD could have held these servicers accountable for the unprecedented delays they created, delays that harmed homeowners

and threatened the soundness of the FHA insurance fund. HUD had ample legal authority to make its servicers review borrowers for loss mitigation and follow reasonable foreclosure time frames. Instead, HUD paid off the servicers' claims early in order to avoid even greater future losses from delayed foreclosures. In the end, the big winners were the same large mortgage servicers that created the problem. Through DASP, HUD paid off the servicers' claims and absolved them of responsibility for years of flouting the agency's mortgage servicing rules. Meanwhile, homeowners and their communities are left to struggle with the consequences.

In 2012, when HUD began DASP, it was facing an insurance fund threatened by the burgeoning costs of the foreclosure delays that its servicers were orchestrating around the country. In addition, HUD's outdated loss mitigation protocols were unsuited to the demands of an unprecedented foreclosure crisis. Auctioning off defaulted loans to financial speculators was one option available to HUD for restoring the health of the insurance fund. However, strengthening loss mitigation oversight would also have reduced losses to the fund. A loan modification, for example, avoids a post-foreclosure insurance claim entirely by replacing a loan in default with a performing loan. During 2012 and 2013, HUD announced a long-overdue restructurIn the end, the big winners were the same large mortgage servicers that created the problem. Through DASP, HUD paid off the servicers' claims and absolved them of responsibility for years of flouting the agency's mortgage servicing rules. Meanwhile, homeowners and their communities are left to struggle with the consequences.

ing of its loss mitigation options. HUD began to implement modification protocols more in line with those available under other government-insured and guaranteed loan programs. Effective implementation of these new FHA options, beginning in 2012, would have significantly reduced losses to the insurance fund. Instead, HUD opted to sell tens of thousands of loans that were in the foreclosure pipeline, making these loans ineligible for the improved FHA loss mitigation options.

In implementing DASP, HUD accepted at face value its servicers' rationales for the unprecedented foreclosure delays that began in 2010. In many cases, these delays extended over several years. According to the servicers, the delays were due to either new state laws that made foreclosures more time-consuming, or else to the servicers' ramped-up efforts to help borrowers through reviews for loss mitigation. In reality, the state laws created during the foreclosure crisis did not impose burdensome new obstacles on foreclosing parties, and the servicers' reviews for loss mitigation were haphazard at best.

Certain state laws implemented in the wake of the financial crisis require that mortgage servicers review homeowners for loss mitigation before foreclosing. These laws have the potential to strengthen and reinforce compliance with HUD rules. For example, mediation laws make FHA servicers show that they followed FHA guidelines before they are allowed to foreclose. Unfortunately, DASP undermines the impact of these helpful laws. Through DASP, FHA servicers can simply transfer the loans to new owners who then assert they are no longer bound by FHA rules. HUD pays the insurance claims to the pre-sale FHA servicers and allows them to avoid any obligation to show a court that they complied with FHA loss mitigation rules. In one telling instance involving Philadelphia homeowners discussed in this report HUD paid off insurance claims for 23 FHA-insured loans while all the homeowners were in the middle of mediations over loss mitigation. In HUD's view, the DASP sales remove all FHA protections from a loan, even where the former FHA servicer did not comply with FHA rules. HUD's lack of proper oversight and use of DASP has aided servicers in routinely selling off FHA-insured loans in order to get FHA insurance benefits without following either FHA requirements or state laws.

HUD's claims of cost savings due to DASP necessarily assume two things: first, that the servicers conducted a thorough review for foreclosure alternatives for each loan before a DASP sale; and second, that all the borrowers were truly ineligible for any alternative to foreclosure under FHA's guidelines. The examples of the homeowners abruptly pulled out of the FHA program by DASP sales while in the middle of mediations clearly show that HUD's assumptions were wrong. Ignoring loss mitigation also entails costs. Any cost savings due to DASP

One critical goal of HUD is to help borrowers who could not otherwise achieve homeownership to stay in their homes. Private equity firms and hedge fund operators, the primary purchasers of the defaulted loans through DASP, are under no obligation to further this goal. cannot be evaluated without considering the costs of needless foreclosures and the resulting unnecessary insurance claims.

HUD's contention that DASP helps homeowners is based on an abstract theory: That if you sell distressed loans to financial speculators at prices that seem like good deals to them, the speculators who buy the loans will modify them, reduce principal balances owed, or take similar steps to help the homeowners stay in their homes. The speculators will do this because they intend to sell the loans to someone else in a few years. At resale, the defaulted loans may bring in higher prices if they have turned into "performing" assets. The theory also assumes, of course, that whatever deal the speculator offers the homeowner after a DASP sale is better than any option the homeowner would have received had the loan remained an FHA loan serviced by a competent servicer.

HUD's theory suffers from two major problems. First, Congress directed HUD to manage the FHA program to further certain policy

goals. One critical goal is to help borrowers who could not otherwise achieve homeownership to stay in their homes. Private equity firms and hedge fund operators, the primary purchasers of the defaulted loans through DASP, are under no obligation to further this goal. HUD, on the other hand, has an obligation to ensure its protocols are followed in order to satisfy this objective. Second, even the limited available data about the status of loans after DASP sales, including data provided by HUD, does not demonstrate that postsale outcomes generally benefit homeowners. There is no evidence from the sales over the past four years that the speculative investors gave homeowners loan modifications that reduced the principal of the loans at any significant rate or that sustainable modifications were provided in substantial numbers. HUD has not produced any data showing the structure of modifications in the small number of cases where HUD claims loans were modified after DASP sales.

Even the limited available data about the status of loans after DASP sales, including data provided by HUD, does not demonstrate that post-sale outcomes generally benefit homeowners.

In reality, investors do not need to modify loans to make them "performing" after a DASP sale. There are much easier ways to tack a "performing" label on a loan. Common practices of the DASP purchasers include offering borrowers' five-year "interest only" payment agreements that then revert to the original loan terms. These agreements do not modify basic loan terms. Instead, they simply postpone an inevitable re-default.

HUD's own data show that in most cases the speculative DASP buyers did not modify the loans, and did not turn them into performing loans. Instead, they foreclosed or arranged short sales. HUD more recently began requiring speculators to offer borrowers "HAMP-like" modifications after DASP sales. However, HUD has not defined this requirement or described how it will be enforced. Unless HUD enhances oversight of its servicers and commits substantial resources to rigorous enforcement, there is little likelihood that HUD can capably enforce this kind of requirement against non-participants in the FHA program.

HUD has long-standing rules that authorize it to assess penalties against servicers who exceed reasonable diligence time frames for the conduct of loss mitigation reviews and completion of foreclosures. Similarly, HUD may penalize servicers that fail to demonstrate compliance with the requirements to review for all options under the FHA loss mitigation guidelines. HUD should use this authority. Failure to document compliance with HUD's loss mitigation protocol must act as a complete bar to any loan sale. If HUD continues to conduct DASP sales, it must require that a servicer give the borrower clear advance notice of the intent to sell a loan. Borrowers must have an opportunity to raise and resolve with HUD servicers' unfounded claims of compliance with HUD's loss mitigation rules.

Since DASP's inception almost four years ago, HUD has released vague and incomplete data that obscure essential outcome trends. The absence of reliable data allowed HUD to portray DASP as providing a benefit for homeowners. At the same time HUD has minimized the problems that occur when it cuts off FHA loss mitigation reviews through DASP sales. More recently, HUD has suggested it took concrete steps to address servicers' inappropriate referrals of loans to DASP. However, HUD did not provide any clear, written explanation of these steps. Any such actions have not been effective. HUD should not continue to reply to criticism of DASP with periodic announcements of reforms that contain no specific details.

Vigorous enforcement of HUD's loss mitigation rules would preserve homeownership and stabilize communities better than essentially unrestricted sales of the loans, often to financial speculators. The note sale program should only continue if it can be transformed to benefit homeowners. communities, and the Fund while preventing FHA servicers from escaping their obligations under FHA's rules and avoiding accountability under state law for their conduct.

Historically, HUD has excluded homeowners from any role in the oversight of FHA servicers' loss mitigation performance. DASP has only aggravated this problem. Note sales under DASP are completed before homeowners are aware their loans are sold. They lose the protections of the FHA program before they can raise objections. Effective enforcement of HUD's loss mitigation rules with borrower participation through advance notice of sales and adherence to reasonable foreclosure timelines are the best ways to safeguard the FHA insurance fund from the costs of unnecessary or unduly delayed foreclosures. These changes must be prerequisites to any continued note sales.

The American homeownership rate is at a 20-year low. The ongoing erosion of homeownership from low-income families is likely to be of long duration, and for some families will be permanent. Lowand moderate-income communities have been substantially altered by mass foreclosures. In recent decades, FHA loans have been the primary means for African-American and Hispanic families to achieve homeownership. The unnecessary loss of FHA homeownership forces these households into the rental market. As rents around the country rise, the families pay increasingly high percentages of their income for housing, often 50% or more, while losing out on accruing wealth through homeownership. Instead of being pillars of stable communities, former homeowners must flee to wherever they can temporarily afford the rent. In a substantial number of cases, these outcomes are avoidable.

Vigorous enforcement of HUD's loss mitigation rules would preserve homeownership and stabilize communities better than essen-

tially unrestricted sales of the loans, often to financial speculators. To date, however, HUD has not held its major servicers accountable for their non-compliance with HUD's own servicing rules. In the end, the mortgage servicers who caused the crisis for the FHA insurance fund walk away the winners. HUD pays the servicers' inflated claims and the servicers often evade state laws meant to promote sustainable homeownership. The note sale program should continue only if it can be transformed to benefit homeowners, communities, and the Fund while preventing FHA servicers from escaping their obligations under FHA's rules and avoiding accountability under state law for their conduct.

I. FOR DECADES, HUD'S FHA PROGRAM HAS PLAYED A CENTRAL ROLE IN AFFORDABLE HOMEOWNERSHIP

Congress created the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) under the National Housing Act in 1934 to help define federal housing policy during the Depression. FHA's programs further Congress' stated national housing goal of "a decent home and a suitable living environment for every American family."¹ The FHA is now part of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). FHA has insured over 34 million home mortgages since 1934. Currently, 4.8 million single-family mortgages are insured under FHA programs.²

The FHA's primary public purpose now is to expand homeownership for families not adequately served by the private mortgage markets. Over 80% of FHA-insured loans go to firsttime homebuyers.³ HUD has described the intent of Congress in creating the FHA program:

An important part of FHA's mission is to provide financing to homebuyers who, compared to those served by the conventional market, have lower wealth and pose moderately higher risks but are still creditworthy. For this reason, FHA-insured mortgages have been the product of choice, and some-times necessity, for low-income Americans, offering a pathway to the middle class and a chance to build wealth that can be passed down through generations.⁴

FHA's share of the home purchase mortgage market has varied over time. Its share shrank to less than 10% during the subprime boom of 2005-2007. Since the 2008 financial crisis, the portion of all new home loans created with FHA financing increased significantly, to over 20%.⁵ In raw numbers, from 750,000 to one million families in the United States have obtained FHA-insured loans annually since 2009.⁶

Since the recent financial crisis, the rates at which individuals in communities of color achieved homeownership dropped dramatically. To the extent that families of color obtain home purchase loans today, FHA loans play a critically important role. In 2014, FHA provided financing for 43% of all African-American borrowers, and 44% of all Hispanic borrowers.⁷

FHA's single family home loan program operates as an insurance program for mortgage loans made by private lenders. Contributions from borrowers support FHA's insurance fund. The fund covers In raw numbers, from 750,000 to one million families in the United States have obtained FHAinsured loans annually since 2009. In 2014, FHA provided financing for 43% of all African-American borrowers, and 44% of all Hispanic borrowers.

the lenders' losses in the event of defaults. Federal law delegates to HUD the responsibility to protect the soundness of the FHA insurance fund. However, in managing the fund HUD must work to achieve dual objectives. Congress requires HUD "to meet the housing needs of the borrowers that the single family mortgage insurance program under this subchapter is designed to serve" while minimizing risk of default to the fund and to homeowners.⁸ By implementing DASP, HUD appears to have improved the financial position of the insurance fund; however, it has not supplied clear data to show how DASP meets the needs of FHA-insured borrowers and the neighborhoods in which they live. Under its legal mandate, HUD must make borrower stability as high a priority as the solvency of the fund.

Key Players and Terms in the FHA Program

Who are the owners of FHA-insured loans? Private lending institutions, such as banks, savings and loan associations, and mortgage companies, originate FHA-insured loans. These originators have sold many of the loans to investors, with the result that ownership interests in FHA-insured loans have often been securitized. Securitized mortgages end up held by a trust and the investors in the trust become the real owners of the loans. These trusts have little day-to-day involvement with the management of the loans in a trust portfolio. More recently, a growing percentage of FHA loans are originated by non-bank lenders.⁹

Mortgage servicers play the key role. Mortgage servicing companies perform the core, ongoing work related to maintaining FHA-insured mortgage loans. The investors who own the loans enter into contracts with these servicers. It is the servicers who interact with homeowners, collect payments, manage escrow accounts, and make decisions regarding loss mitigation and foreclosure. The mortgage servicing industry is highly concentrated, with a few large servicers — Wells Fargo, Bank of America, JP Morgan Chase, and CitiMortgage — dominating the field. HUD must approve any financial institution that services an FHA loan. HUD publishes regulations, handbooks, and other directives that guide all aspects of servicing FHA mortgages. HUD has ample authority to supervise its servicers and ensure that they comply with the agency's servicing rules.

The FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund. The FHA does not own mortgage loans. Instead, it manages an insurance fund that is available to cover losses incurred by the owner of a loan if the loan goes into default and must be foreclosed. The intent has always been that the FHA insurance fund be self-funding and not subsidized by taxpayers. Borrowers pay insurance premiums to FHA, and these premiums support the insurance fund. Borrowers pay a substantial part of their premium obligation when they take out an FHA-insured loan. They then make regular contributions to the fund along with each monthly mortgage payment. The FHA insurance fund incurred a significant deficit

in the course of the 2008 financial crisis. For the first time since its inception, the fund required Congressional appropriations. Since 2012, the fund has recovered. In 2015 the net worth of the FHA insurance fund was \$23.8 billion.¹⁰

The importance of loss mitigation. Federal statutes require that servicers of FHA-insured mortgages engage in loss mitigation when an FHA-insured mortgage goes into default.¹¹ As the name suggests, loss mitigation is a process of considering less costly alternatives to foreclosure when a borrower has defaulted. Loss mitigation begins with the recognition that foreclosures are very expensive. The loan's owners may lose 50% or more of the value of their investment when a loan must be foreclosed. An alternative to foreclosure, such as a loan modification, may cause the owners to lose some money. However, the ultimate loss from a modification is often smaller than the loss from foreclosure. Since the FHA insurance fund pays loan owners their losses to the fund.

FHA's loss mitigation guidelines. FHA has established loss mitigation guidelines that include a set of options that servicers must consider for each borrower in default.¹² The home retention options include forbearance and repayment plans as well as two types of loan modifications. HUD revised these options substantially during 2012 and 2013, including a new calculation designed to achieve more affordable payments under FHA's version of HAMP (a loan modification program created by the U.S. Treasury Department).¹³ An FHA servicer may foreclose only if it has first reviewed the borrower for the mitigation options in a particular order and found the borrower ineligible for all of them.¹⁴ HUD has set out clear timelines for servicers to assess these options.¹⁵ Servicers must begin their efforts at the forty-fifth day of default.¹⁶ They must evaluate the borrower for all options on a monthly basis before the loan becomes four months in default.¹⁷ The servicer must continue to make loss mitigation available after initiating foreclosure.¹⁸ Many courts have ruled that servicers who fail to comply with FHA loss mitigation regulations cannot foreclose.¹⁹

II. BACKGROUND ON THE DISTRESSED ASSET STABILIZATION PROGRAM (DASP)

A. HUD's launch of the DASP program

In 2010, HUD began a pilot program to auction off small pools of defaulted FHA-insured loans.²⁰ These pools typically contained a few hundred loans. Then, in 2012, HUD launched a stepped-up program to sell off much larger pools of loans. HUD called this new initiative the Distressed Asset Stabilization Program (DASP).²¹ DASP involves sales of pools of thousands of loans. During 2014, for example, HUD sold off a total of 45,979 FHA loans in four auction sessions.²²

DASP focuses on FHA-insured loans that are in default but have not yet gone through foreclosure sales. HUD auctions these loans in two types of pools. Most loans sold from 2012 through 2015 were included in what HUD calls national pools. Investors who buy loans in national pools can dispose of the loans and properties with few restrictions.²³ As the name suggests, the national pools may include loans from any state. However, servicers select the loans to be sold, and they have chosen loans primarily from a limited number of states that use judicial foreclosures, such as Florida, New York, Ohio, and Indiana. Judicial foreclosures require court approval before a foreclosure sale can take place. A smaller share of loans sold through DASP came from "non-judicial" foreclosure states. In these states, a servicer can conduct a foreclosure sale without court oversight.

Aside from the national pools, HUD collects other loans into what it calls Neighborhood Stabilization Outcome (NSO) pools. NSO pools are regional. They have had targeted locations such as Chicago, Detroit, and metropolitan areas in Ohio and Florida. The buyers of NSO pools enter into agreements with HUD to achieve certain objectives for half the loans in the pool over a four-year reporting period.²⁴ The qualifying objectives include accepting payments on a modified or unmodified loan for six months after purchase, selling the security property to an owner-occupant through a short sale or post-foreclosure sale, or renting out the property for three years. Under the terms of NSO bidding agreements, HUD can impose financial penalties on investors who buy an NSO pool and fail to meet one of the listed objectives for at least half the loans in the pool.

HUD conducted the first DASP auctions in September 2012. Since then, the volume of loans involved in DASP sales has increased significantly. ²⁵ From 2010 through November 2015, HUD auctioned off just over 105,000 defaulted FHA loans. Almost all of these were sold since the expanded DASP sales began in 2012. HUD sold the loans in about 175 different pools.²⁶ Of the total loans sold, 80,983 loans were in national pools and 24,536 in NSO pools. The loans had a total unpaid principal balance of over \$17.9 billion.²⁷ HUD sold these loans for substantially less than the outstanding principal balances owed on them. For example, in sales over the past two years HUD sold the loans for from 52% to 66% of the amounts owed.²⁸ The loans typically sold for less than the market values of the properties involved, as assessed by broker price opinions. The loans sold for 68% to 78% of the properties' estimated values.²⁹

DASP represented a significant deviation from the way HUD typically paid off insurance claims. Under the pre-DASP practice, when a borrower defaulted on a mortgage, the servicer conducted a foreclosure sale. The foreclosure sale either transferred title to the property to a third party buyer or the servicer itself acquired title because no one else bid the amount of

By the Numbers

the debt. When the servicer ended up with the property, it was considered an REO (real estate owned) property. The REO property would eventually be sold. In the end, the proceeds from the foreclosure sale or the REO sale would be applied to reduce the underlying mortgage debt. The servicer would then submit a claim for FHA insurance benefits to HUD. FHA insurance covered most of the private owners' losses on the debt not recovered by the foreclosure sale process.

DASP changed the sequence in which HUD paid off an FHA insurance claim. Under DASP, the servicer assigns the mortgage to HUD *before* any foreclosure sale. The servicer receives the FHA insurance payoff when the loan is transferred to the DASP purchaser. A later foreclosure by the DASP purchaser has no impact on the pre-DASP owner of the loan or its servicer. At the same time, the purchaser will not be covered by FHA insurance and will not be able to submit an insurance claim to FHA.

The DASP sale has significant consequences for a homeowner. According to HUD, the sale immediately terminates the homeowner's participation in the FHA program. The homeowner loses the right to be considered for options such as FHA-HAMP, a mortgage modification that can re-set monthly payments to affordable levels, as low as 25% of the household's income. In HUD's view, upon completion of the sale, the guidelines used to determine eligibility for all FHA loss mitigation options no longer apply to the mortgage. This occurs even though the homeowner paid substantial premiums to participate in the FHA program, a program that includes valuable options to retain the home in the face of hardship. While HUD contends that these loans already have exhausted FHA program options, this often is not the case.

After a DASP sale, servicing of the loan is transferred to a new servicer working for the investor who won the auction. At some point after the sale, homeowners receive notice that they have a new mortgage servicer. For most homeowners, the notice about a new servicer is how they The 2008 economic crisis resulted in the largest number of foreclosures in U.S. history. HUD created a program to work through defaulted FHA-insured mortgage loans, eventually rolled out as the Distressed Asset Stabilization Program (DASP). Government data shows that the DASP program primarily sells the loans for quick cash to large private equity funds and hedge funds. The result? The same mortgage servicers that contributed to the initial foreclosure problems are rewarded by early payment of their FHA insurance claims, to the detriment of low- and moderate-income homeowners and taxpayers.

2010
2012
105,000
45,979
\$17.9 billion
68% to 78%
52% to 66%

first learn that their mortgage was sold. Their participation in the FHA program is terminated without warning. They receive no explanation from HUD or anyone else of the severe consequences flowing from the DASP sale. In fact, when notified of the new servicer, homeowners may not be formally notified their FHA insurance was removed. The homeowners have no opportunity to object to the DASP sale even if they are in the process of being reviewed for an FHA loan modification as their loans are sold.

HUD could easily adopt a policy of notifying homeowners about a planned DASP sale, and it has authority to require its servicers to do so.³⁰ The lack of notice to borrowers has been a consistent aspect of the DASP program since its inception.

B. Foreclosure Mediation Programs Reveal DASP's Impact on Enforcement of FHA Loss Mitigation Guidelines

1. *Philadelphia's foreclosure conference system – a model program that stops foreclosures, promotes compliance with FHA rules, and helps lenders*

The courts in Philadelphia led the way in developing a robust response to the foreclosure crisis. In 2008, the city's courts inaugurated a program of mandatory settlement conferences for all residential foreclosures. Under the program's rules the mortgage servicer must file a certificate of completion of a "conciliation" conference before it can proceed with a foreclosure sale. Conciliation sessions are scheduled automatically when a servicer files a foreclosure case involving an owner-occupied property.

Once the Philadelphia conference process is begun, the homeowner is expected to work with a housing counselor to complete and share documents. The housing counselor helps the homeowner prepare a proposal for the mortgage servicer to review before a conciliation conference. Most homeowners do not have direct legal representation in the conferences, but all have access to limited consultations with attorneys. Homeowners are represented by housing counselors at the sessions. For cases not resolved before a scheduled session, a civil case manager appointed by the court conducts the conciliation meeting. So long as the homeowner complies with the conciliation program rules, foreclosure proceedings, including the entry of judgment and the sheriff sale, are paused until the servicer files a certification that the conciliation process has concluded. If an agreement is not reached at an initial conference and additional review is needed, an order issues setting an additional session. The Philadelphia program has seen high rates of participation by homeowners, due in part to a system for direct door-to-door contacts by community groups to reach out to homeowners who have received notices of conciliation sessions.

A research firm's report analyzing extensive data about the Philadelphia mediation program has documented its effectiveness.³¹ The firm examined court records of cases that went through the program from its inception in mid-2008 through March 2011. Based on court records and individual loan data, the authors created a long-term record of homeowners' circumstances as they participated. Looking at the status of these cases from 2008 to 2011, the Reinvestment Fund made the following findings that demonstrate the program saves home and does not unreasonably delay foreclosures:

• 70% of homeowners eligible to participate in the program appeared for their mediation sessions.³²

- 3.5% of the homeowners who appeared for conferences in foreclosure cases filed since September 2008 had foreclosure sales of their homes ordered.³³
- 35% of eligible homeowners who participated in conferences reached an agreement.³⁴
- 53 days was the average that cases remained in the program, well within the 10-month time frame typical for the completion of a foreclosure in which the homeowner never appears.³⁵
- 27% of eligible borrowers lost their homes as a consequence of a foreclosing filing before implementation of the program, but only 5.7% during a subsequent 6-month comparison period after the implementation of the program (looking at eligible cases before and after the program's inception).³⁶
- 87.5% of homeowners who reached agreements in the program between June 2008 and June 2009 were still in their homes as of March 31, 2011 (at least 21 months after the dates of their agreements).³⁷

2. DASP allowed large servicers to receive FHA insurance claim payments without having to comply with Philadelphia's foreclosure mediation program or FHA loss mitigation rules

Details from the Philadelphia mediation program make clear that large servicers have been able to use DASP to avoid participation in the court's settlement conferences as well as FHA's own loss mitigation program. For example, Bank of America has been one of the largest servicers of FHA-insured mortgages. It has also been the servicer most actively putting loans into DASP. An assumption underlying DASP is that a major servicer like Bank of America reviews its FHA-insured loans for all available loss mitigation options before referring the loans to HUD for a DASP sale. Another assumption is that HUD examines the status of servicers' loss mitigation reviews to make sure the reviews are complete before accepting loans for DASP sales.

Yet, what actually happened during a short time period in 2014 to a group of 23 Philadelphia homeowners with FHA-insured loans demonstrates that loans are sold through DASP before FHA options are exhausted and apparently without any substantial examination by HUD. Looking at a period of just a few months, we identified 23 homeowners who were actively engaged in loss mitigation reviews with Bank of America when HUD sold their loans through DASP. These homeowners were appearing for court-supervised settlement conferences because they wanted Bank of America to review them for FHA loss mitigation options. Several of the homeowners had met numerous times with the bank's representatives, some of them for five, six, or even as many as nine conference sessions. All the loss mitigation reviews in these cases were ongoing.

In each of the 23 cases, despite the fact that the mediations were scheduled to continue and FHA loss mitigation procedures were not completed, HUD sold the homeowners' loans to speculators who were not in the business of offering reasonable loss mitigation. The result? The homeowners were told they had lost all access to the FHA program, including the right to be considered for an affordable modification based on a clearly defined protocol. Neither Bank of America nor HUD informed the homeowners that their loans were going to be sold or that their protections under FHA rules would no longer be offered. The homeowners discovered the facts only after the sales had taken place. The DASP sales happened while Bank of America's representatives were continuing to request information and process forms for FHA loss mitigation

options. None of the homeowners received a final decision as to whether they qualified for FHA loss mitigation assistance. None of them ever received an FHA loss mitigation option.

This type of *en masse* exclusion of cases from loss mitigation reviews through DASP could happen anywhere in the country. The only thing that was unusual here was that, due to the structure of the mediation program, evidence of Bank of America's DASP sales appeared

TABLE 1

FHA Distressed Asset Stabilization Program Cases in the Philadelphia Mediation Program (June–October 2014)

CASE DOCKET*	DATE MORTGAGE ASSIGNED TO HUD	STATUS AT DASP SALE
Bank of America v. S.D. 130700	10/1/2014	conferences ongoing after 6 sessions
Bank of America v. T.H 120702	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing after 4 sessions
Bank of America v. K.H. 140300	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing after 4 sessions
Bank of America v. C.S. 140503	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing 1 session
Bank of America v. S.T. 131000	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing 2 sessions
Bank of America v. S.H. 140200	10/1/2014	conferences ongoing 2 sessions
Bank of America v. M.S. 140601	9/9/2014	conference ongoing 1 session
Bank of America v. E.C. 140400	10/1/2014	conference ongoing 2 sessions
Bank of America v. A.S. 140600	9/9/2014	conference ongoing 2 sessions
Bank of America v. T.J. 130803	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing 6 sessions
Bank of America v. P.S. 140800	9/9/2014	conferences ongoing 1 session
Bank of America v. J.K. 130502	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing 5 conferences
Bank of America v. C.P. 140600	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing 3 sessions
Bank of America v. R.C. 140602	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing after 1 session
Bank of America v. C.R. 140704	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing after 1 session
Bank of America v. S.C. 140501	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing after 2 sessions
Bank of America v. B.B. 140703	9/9/2014	conferences ongoing after 1 session
Bank of America v. T.K. 140801	10/2/2014	conferences ongoing after 1 session
Bank of America v. A.A. 140403	10/1/2014	conferences ongoing after 1 session
Bank of America v. E.R. 140603	2/6/2015	conferences ongoing after 1 session
Bank of America v. L.V. 131000	2/4/2015	conferences ongoing after 9 sessions
Bank of America v. F.W. 140402	2/6/2015	conferences ongoing after 6 sessions
Bank of America v. D.M. 140602	2/4/2015	conferences ongoing after 3 sessions

*Full names of plaintiffs and last three digits of docket numbers were removed for privacy reasons. *Source:* Philadelphia Common Pleas Court Dockets and Philadelphia County Land Records.

conspicuously in court and land records. Bank of America had so many cases pending for conferences that the Philadelphia court scheduled special "Bank of America Days" for the bank's cases. These took place on August 14, 2014 and on October 16, 2014. After the two dates, these cases were suddenly taken off the Bank of America scheduling lists. Land records show that in proximity to these dates the mortgages were assigned to HUD and then transferred by HUD to speculators. As Table 1 (see page 14) indicates, many homeowners were working their way through multiple conference sessions in an effort to be reviewed for the FHA loss mitigation options their insurance payments had made potentially available.

Philadelphia Homeowner Cases and Results of Exclusion from the FHA Program

In each of these cases the homeowner submitted a loss mitigation application to Bank of America or was preparing to submit one. The stories of some of these homeowners demonstrate the impact of selling FHA loans before loss mitigation is over.

Thomas and Beverly Henry's case is a typical example. The Henrys are a retired couple in Philadelphia. They have owned their home since 1977 and raised their children there. The Henrys began to apply to Bank of America for an FHA loan modification in 2010, after one spouse had to stop working to receive cancer treatment. They went through years of back and forth with the bank, never getting a clear answer on their eligibility. They repeatedly provided information about their retirement income, finally appearing for a settlement conference with Bank of America on August 14, 2014. At the settlement conference the Bank of America's representative told the Henrys that the bank finally had all the information it needed to consider them for a loan modification. In reality, HUD had already sold the Henrys' loan to a speculator operating outside HUD's control. This sale had taken place in June 2014 without notice to the Henrys. The Henrys did not find out until October 2014 that Bank of America no longer serviced their loan. According to the new owner, Newland Asset Holding Trust, FHA protections no longer applied to their mortgage. The Henrys are still pursuing litigation just to find out what loss mitigation the new owner of the loan offers, if any.

At the settlement conference the Bank of America's representative told the Henrys that the bank finally had all the information it needed to consider them for a loan modification. In reality, HUD had already sold the Henrys' loan to a speculator operating outside HUD's control.

Edwin Cruz lives with his two daughters in the predominately Latino neighborhood of Juniata, in Northeast Philadelphia. Bank of America approved Mr. Cruz for a trial modification under FHA guidelines in 2013. Mr. Cruz made all the payments needed to comply with the trial modification terms. Bank of America went on to approve him for a permanent FHA modification. Later, the bank claimed there had been some unspecified paperwork problem with the modification. The bank canceled the modification and filed a foreclosure complaint instead. Mr. Cruz continued to seek a modification. During 2014 and into 2015 Mr. Cruz participated in the foreclosure conference program and continued to send Bank of America the documents it was demanding. Only in early 2015 did he discover that HUD had sold his loan under DASP in June 2014. The investor who bought the loan at the DASP sale would only offer a loan modification that was contingent on Mr. Cruz's making a large unaffordable initial payment. Conditioning a loan modification on an unreasonable lump sum payment

During 2014 and into 2015 Mr. Cruz participated in the foreclosure conference program and continued to send Bank of America the documents it was demanding. Only in early 2015 did he discover that HUD had sold his loan under DASP in June 2014. would not have been permitted under FHA rules. The new loan owner continues to refuse to offer an affordable long-term modification and Mr. Cruz's only recourse has been to continue to defend the foreclosure in court.³⁸ Other Philadelphia homeowners who were not assigned to a special "Bank of America Day" in the conference program had similar experiences.

Anthony Smith is a home health aide worker who has lived in his home financed with an FHA mortgage for 20 years. In September 2014 he was working with a Bank of America representative to complete his application for an FHA modification. According to his attorney and housing counselor, Mr. Smith appeared to meet all qualifications for eligibility for an FHA modification. Instead of implementing a modification, Bank of America claimed that Mr. Smith had submitted an incorrect tax form. It appeared that Mr. Smith had actually provided the correct tax documents, but before this dispute could be resolved, Bank of America sold the loan through DASP.

Mr. Smith, like Mr. Cruz and the Henrys, must now resort to litigation to get a clear answer from the DASP buyer as to what its loss mitigation options are.

In response to incidents such as these, Philadelphia's City Council passed a resolution in February 2016 calling on HUD and other federal agencies to stop conducting sales of distressed loans through procedures like these that harm homeowners and communities.³⁹ The City has a strong interest in protecting the successful programs it has developed for preserving homeownership. DASP is a clear threat to those efforts.

The number of cases and clear pattern of loan sales during loss mitigation reviews is ample evidence of a structural problem with DASP and shows a significant lack of HUD oversight. A modest effort at competent oversight would have picked up that these loans were still in active loss mitigation review.

3. State and local foreclosure mediation programs to promote FHA loss mitigation

Since the foreclosure crisis began in 2008, foreclosure conference programs similar to Philadelphia's have appeared in about half the states.⁴⁰ Twelve states and the District of Columbia have enacted statutes requiring conferences. The supreme courts of several states, including Ohio and New Jersey, have issued statewide rules authorizing mediations in foreclosure cases. As in Philadelphia, many local court systems have also set up their own foreclosure conference programs.

Other mediation and conference programs around the country have success records as impressive as Philadelphia's. Connecticut has required mediation in residential foreclosure cases since 2008. Data provided by the Connecticut courts covering the period from July 2008 through December 31, 2015 showed that nearly 30,000 mediations were completed.⁴¹ Of these, 70% resulted in settlements in which the borrower stayed in the home. Significantly, 84% of the Connecticut cases that settled with an agreement for the borrower to remain in the home involved a loan modification.

In New York, a high proportion of eligible homeowners appear for settlement conferences scheduled automatically in foreclosure cases.⁴² Well over 100,000 conferences were held in a single year under the New York program. For certain reporting periods, homeowners appeared for conferences an average of 75% to 80% of the time. This represents a complete reversal of the status quo prior to the initiation of the mandatory conferences, when 75% to 80% of homeowners did not participate in their cases. The majority of homeowners appeared for conferences with attorney representation.

Mediation and conference programs benefit lenders and homeowners. The modifications that occur in place of foreclosures typically set terms based on a net present value test.⁴³ These tests determine that the modification is more in the financial interest of investors in the loan than a foreclosure sale. Of particular importance in the case of FHA loans, these conferences provide a valuable form of oversight over the servicers' compliance with HUD loss mitigation rules. The FHA's rules can form the basis for negotiations and reviews. The programs prevent unnecessary foreclosures of FHA-insured loans, benefitting the HUD insurance fund.

New York Conference Cases

In New York, DASP has also impeded mediations that could have improved the performance of FHA loans. For example, Brooklyn homeowner **Paulette Morrison** was participating in the New York foreclosure conference program during 2014. She repeatedly submitted documents to Bank of America for years without getting a decision on her eligibility for an FHA modification. Without notice to her, Bank of America sold her mortgage loan through DASP. Rushmore, as servicer for the DASP buyer, then appeared for settlement conferences and would not consider a loan modification unless Ms. Morrison first made an up-front payment equal to 25% of the overdue payments and fees. This outlandishly high payment was well beyond anything she could afford. Had her loan remained FHA insured, Ms. Morrison would never have faced such an unreasonable barrier to a modification. Servicers of FHA loans may not demand upfront payments to begin a modification.

Lorenzo Morrison had a similar experience in the New York settlement conferences.⁴⁴ He had submitted a full loss mitigation application to his servicer, JP Morgan Chase. His attorneys went through the eligibility requirements for an FHA loan modification. Mr. Morrison met all requirements without a hitch. However, while the conference sessions to review the application were taking place, HUD sold Mr. Morrison's loan to a private investor. Caliber, servicing the loan for the new owner, would only offer a five year interest-only forbearance as a loss mitigation alternative. Under Caliber's offer, Mr. Morrison would pay \$70,000 over five years to the servicer and never reduce his principal balance. At the end of five years the payment level that drove him into foreclosure would be restored. A servicer subject to FHA rules would never be permitted to offer this kind of unfair and deceptive proposal.

III. DASP'S PRIMARY ROLE IS TO MANAGE SERVICERS' FORECLOSURE DELAYS

A. HUD Failed to Stop Servicer Delays and Then Responded with DASP

Since the goal of the FHA program is to expand homeownership, especially for lower-income families, HUD's efforts cannot stop once a family gets an FHA-backed mortgage and moves into a home. HUD must also help that family keep the home. Indeed, Congress has mandated that servicers of FHA-insured mortgages offer the borrower loss mitigation options if the loan goes into default.⁴⁵ HUD requires servicers to begin exploring these options within 45 days after default, and to move expeditiously to resolve the default either by working out a loss mitigation alternative or by bringing the case to foreclosure.

HUD's foreclosure processing timelines address its concern that long delays in a foreclosure process undermine the FHA insurance fund. To address this concern, HUD has authority to assess monetary penalties when servicers exceed foreclosure time frames,⁴⁶ and can even bar non-compliant servicers from participating in the FHA program.

Dragging out the foreclosure process can also hurt homeowners. Accruing interest, foreclosure costs, attorney fees, and servicing fees build up every month during a foreclosure, becoming an impediment to saving the home. More importantly, the foreclosure process in many states provides a mechanism for ensuring that options to save the home are considered. This has been particularly true in recent years, as states responded to the foreclosure crisis by creating foreclosure mediation and foreclosure diversion programs. These programs forced servicers to cut through the red tape that homeowners faced. It forced them to focus on the individual homeowner and address the question of whether the home could be saved. Unnecessary delays in the foreclosure process can mean postponing the exploration of these options until it is too late to save the home.

Since long delays in exploring loss mitigation or pursuing foreclosure undermine the FHA insurance fund, one would expect that during the foreclosure crisis FHA would have vigorously enforced its requirements that servicers adhere to schedules. But the opposite was true. Servicers delayed foreclosures on FHA loans for months or even years, including in states with strong, successful foreclosure mediation programs. Instead of taking steps to resolve these delays, HUD created the DASP program, which deprives the homeowners of both the benefits of FHA's loss mitigation guidelines and the foreclosure process's role in enforcing those guidelines. While selling the loan is one approach for loans that have exhausted the FHA loss mitigation guidelines, for those still midstream, the sales deny homeowners the benefits of the FHA program for which they have paid.

B. HUD's Requirements for Processing Foreclosures Are Sidestepped by Servicers Selling Loans Into DASP

HUD has employed DASP largely in response to its servicers' unwillingness to conduct foreclosures in a timely fashion. Yet, HUD has always had the power to ensure that its servicers complete foreclosures efficiently and without undue delays. For decades, HUD directives have required FHA servicers to exercise what HUD defines as "reasonable diligence" in prosecuting foreclosures to completion.⁴⁷ The Secretary of HUD establishes reasonable diligence time frames for all states. The reasonable diligence time frames take into account each state's foreclosure laws. Investors may not be fully reimbursed for unpaid interest when servicers delay foreclosures beyond these time frames. HUD revises the schedule periodically, as it did in 1990, 2001, 2005, 2013, and 2015.⁴⁸ Between 1990 and the appearance of DASP in 2012, HUD's reasonable diligence time frames did not change significantly. HUD generally allowed longer times for states that required judicial foreclosure as opposed to states that permitted non-judicial foreclosures.

HUD's due diligence time frames start with the first legal action that a state law requires to begin a foreclosure and end when the lender acquires title to and possession of the property.⁴⁹ The ten states with the longest allowable FHA foreclosure time frames have always been judicial foreclosure states. Table 2 shows the number of months HUD allowed to complete foreclosures in the ten judicial foreclosure states with the longest foreclosure timelines. The table also shows HUD's revisions of the allowed times between 1990 and 2016. Table 3 (see page 20) gives the same information for the ten states with the shortest FHA foreclosure time frames. The ten shortest periods all apply to non-judicial foreclosure states.

	Year FHA Schedule Revised					
	1990	2001	2005	2013	2016	
FL	7	9	7	15	25	
IA	17	17	17	17	17	
IL	9	13	12	12	17	
ME	22	22	12	14	27	
NJ	12	14	14	15	19	
NY	13	13	13	19	21/27*	
OH	10	12	12	12	13	
PA	9	10	10	11	21	
VT	17	17	14	14	24	
WI	12	12	12	12	12	

TABLE 2 FHA Foreclosure Time Frames in Ten Judicial Foreclosure States

with Longest Foreclosure Time (by Months)

(months from beginning to completion of foreclosure)

* 21 = New York City cases and 27 = Other New York cases

Source: The following HUD Mortgagee Letters (ML): ML 90-4 (August 14, 1990); ML 2001-19 (August 24, 2001); ML 2005-30 (July 12, 2005); ML 2013-38 (October 28, 2013); ML 2016-03 (Feb. 5, 2016) available at Hudclips.

Notably, there was little change to the allowed foreclosure time frames from the 1990s to 2013. HUD increased a few states' foreclosure time lines in 2013.⁵⁰ However, in a new schedule that went into effect in January 2016, HUD dramatically lengthened the allowed foreclosure time frames for several states⁵¹ HUD took this action in response to patterns of delayed foreclosures in these states, particularly in New York. There were no compelling justifications for these changes based on newly enacted state laws.⁵² With these changes, HUD did little more that ratify the unilateral actions its servicers had taken to slow down foreclosures in particular states.

TABLE 3

	Year FHA Schedule Revised					
	1990	2001	2005	2013	2016	
AL	5	4	4	4	6	
AR	5	7	5	5	11	
AZ	3	5	4	5	6	
GA	4	4	4	4	6	
МО	3	3	3	4	5	
NH	4	4	4	4	11	
TN	4	4	4	4	6	
ТХ	3	3	3	3	8	
VA	5	5	4	4	7	
WV	5	5	5	5	7	

FHA Foreclosure Time Frames in Ten Non-Judicial Foreclosure States with Shortest Foreclosure Time (by Months)

(months from beginning to completion of foreclosure)

Source: The following HUD Mortgagee Letters (ML): ML 90-4 (August 14, 1990); ML 2001-19 (August 24, 2001); ML 2005-30 (July 12, 2005); ML 2013-38 (October 28, 2013); ML 2016-03 (Feb. 5, 2016) available at Hudclips.

The patterns of servicer delays were reflected in the make-up of DASP auction pools. More than 50% of the properties sold under DASP from 2012 through 2015 were located in six states: Florida, New Jersey, Illinois, New York, Ohio, and Pennsylvania.⁵³ All are judicial fore-closure states, and since 1990, the six consistently ranked among the states with the longest foreclosure time frames.

HUD's due diligence time frames play an important role in minimizing abuse of the FHA insurance fund. For example, if a servicer drags out a foreclosure for six months beyond the reasonable diligence time, the fund must pay out an additional six months of foreclosure fees and property maintenance costs when it pays the insurance claim after foreclosure. The property may deteriorate and have a reduced resale value. To deter servicer abuses of foreclosure delays, HUD has authority to assess monetary penalties when servicers exceed due diligence and loss mitigation time frames.⁵⁴ These penalties can include amounts equal to claim amounts improperly paid out. HUD can limit and even bar non-compliant servicers from participating in the FHA program.

The typical loan sold under DASP was in a stage of default that should never have existed if HUD had enforced its own requirements. DASP sales have involved loans that were in default well beyond any reasonable due diligence foreclosure time frame. The loans sold so far through DASP were in default for an average of 29 months when the sales were completed.⁵⁵ Through 2015, HUD's due diligence time frames permitted foreclosures to last in excess of twelve months in only six states.⁵⁶ The longest allowed time applied to New York, at nineteen months. Thus, the typical loan sold under DASP was in a stage of default that should never have existed if HUD had enforced its own requirements. In addition to setting time frames for completing foreclosures, HUD fixes times for servicers to perform other obligations while a mortgage is in default. Servicers have a duty to complete reviews for loss mitigation by certain benchmark dates. The obligation to perform these reviews in a timely fashion goes hand in hand with the duty to proceed to foreclose with due diligence. By the end of the second month of delinquency, the servicer must give the borrower a written solicitation for a loss mitigation review.⁵⁷ Before the loan is three months in default, the servicer has to make reasonable efforts to conduct a face-to-face meeting with the borrower to discuss loss mitigation.⁵⁸ An initial loss mitigation review must be completed within ninety days of the default. The servicer must conduct regular reviews thereafter.⁵⁹ Timely compliance with these loss mitigation review requirements is a condition to the valid foreclosure of an FHA mortgage.⁶⁰

The unresolved delinquencies for DASP loans, extending on average 29 months when the sales are completed, have no place under FHA's servicing guidelines. HUD's regulations do not allow a servicer to create long "black hole" periods during foreclosures while the servicer refrains from reviewing the borrower for loss mitigation. Delays without any servicer intervention put the borrower in the worst possible position. The borrower faces mounting costs to reinstate while the options to maintain homeownership become less viable. Meanwhile, these long periods of servicer inactivity drain money unnecessarily from the FHA insurance fund.

C. Servicers Delayed Foreclosures in Key States after Their Systematic Mishandling of Foreclosure Proceedings Was Exposed

Foreclosure numbers rose to unprecedented levels in 2009. During the following year, nationwide media attention focused on mortgage servicers' systematic mishandling of foreclosure proceedings. By the end of 2010, multiple government agencies were investigating the servicers' foreclosure activities. At the same time, a major title insurer indicated it would cease insuring foreclosure titles for two of the largest servicers.⁶¹ The Federal Reserve System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and the Office of Thrift Supervision were beginning an interagency review of foreclosure practices of 14 large servicers. These federal agencies eventually found critical, pervasive weaknesses in the servicers' supervision of attorneys, oversight of contractors, and document preparation.⁶² During 2010, the mortgage servicers faced investigations of their foreclosure activities at the state level as well. In October 2010, 49 state attorneys general launched a joint investigation into the foreclosure practices of the five largest mortgage servicers.⁶³ Several federal agencies, including the U.S. Department of Justice, joined the state officials' investigations. The entities under investigation included the largest servicers of FHA loans: Bank of America, Wells Fargo, CitiCorp, and JP Morgan Chase.

The mortgage servicers' pervasive misconduct came to light largely in judicial foreclosure states. The availability of court scrutiny in these states played a crucial role in uncovering the wrongdoing. Certain state courts took their own remedial action against the abuses. For example, the chief judges of the New York⁶⁴ and New Jersey⁶⁵ courts instituted new documentation requirements for foreclosure cases in an effort to combat the practice of robo-signing.

The mortgage servicers responded to this scrutiny in a variety of ways. In early 2011, Bank of America, JP Morgan Chase, and GMAC temporarily ceased all foreclosure activity.⁶⁶ What followed for the remainder of 2011 was a substantial slowdown of foreclosure activity. The new status quo involved both declines in commencement of new foreclosures as well as the

suspension of cases already in the foreclosure pipeline. As of April 2011, the rate of commencement of new foreclosures and the conduct of foreclosure sales were at a 40-month low nationwide, down 34% from April 2010. In judicial foreclosure states these rates were down by 47%.⁶⁷ As of mid-2011 foreclosure filings in New Jersey were down by 87% for the year compared to one year earlier.⁶⁸ Through 2012, the inventory of delinquent loans in foreclosure continued to grow, with the "foreclosure pipeline" ratio in judicial states becoming more than twice the level in non-judicial states.⁶⁹

The five largest mortgage servicers reached a settlement with the 49 state attorneys generals and federal agencies in March 2012. There was an expectation that this settlement would end servicers' concerns about their vulnerability to future legal challenges and lead to a resumption of normal foreclosure scheduling. This did not happen. The number of scheduled sales and the number of homes owned by banks after completed foreclosure sales decreased substantially during 2012.⁷⁰ As of early 2013, the inventory of properties in the foreclosure pipeline (foreclosure commenced but no auction scheduled) had increased nearly 60% from one year earlier.⁷¹ Nationally, it would not be until late 2014 that the year-to-year comparisons in the number of foreclosure sales would show a true increase from the late 2010 levels.⁷²



CHART 1 Annual Percentage Change in Scheduled Foreclosure Auctions (as of October 2014)

Source: RealtyTrac

In New York, the processing of foreclosure cases reflected this national trend. The filing of new foreclosure cases dropped precipitously after October 2010, when the state's Chief Judge issued the order requiring servicers' attorneys to execute certifications that they had properly verified loan documents. There had been 47,664 new foreclosure cases filed in New York during 2009 and 46,572 during 2010.⁷³ The filings dropped to 16,655 in 2011 and 25,411 in 2012. The new foreclosure filings did not rise again to the 2010 level until 2013.⁷⁴

The resumption of a more typical rate of new foreclosure filings in New York did not tell the whole story. Toward the end of 2012, the New York Court Administrator observed that servicers were not moving cases ahead to foreclosure sales after they filed foreclosure complaints

in the courts. In a 2012 report, the New York Court Administrator noted that due to this trend "there is an inventory of thousands of cases that have technically been commenced, but are not before the court."⁷⁵ These cases became a "shadow inventory."⁷⁶ During 2013, the New York court system faced a serious problem in dealing with this shadow inventory.⁷⁷ Because the servicers' attorneys were not filing required documents to move the cases forward, the court was forced to set up special procedures to compel them to do so.⁷⁸ Ultimately, the New York court system had to devote substantial personnel and resources to identifying the shadow foreclosure docket cases and making the servicers' attorneys prosecute them.⁷⁹

The servicers' delays in New York had a direct negative impact on borrowers. Unless the servicers filed documents indicating that the case was ready to proceed to a judge, the borrowers could not participate in the court's foreclosure settlement conference program. Thus, the servicers' inaction effectively barred homeowners from this important opportunity for a loss mitigation review. The situation deteriorated to the point where legal services attorneys filed a class action lawsuit in federal court seeking redress from the servicers' failure to move their foreclosure cases forward.⁸⁰

If a case eventually made its way into New York's foreclosure settlement conference program, servicers created more delays by stalling in the conferences. In numerous instances, servicers failed to particiThe servicers' delays in New York had a direct negative impact on borrowers: Unless the servicers filed documents indicating that the case was ready to proceed to a judge, the borrowers could not participate in the court's foreclosure settlement conference program; the servicers' inaction effectively barred homeowners from this important opportunity for a loss mitigation review.

pate in the conferences in good faith. As a result, conference sessions were continued multiple times, delaying meaningful loss mitigation reviews. A 2013 survey of the New York foreclosure conferences revealed that 80% of the sessions were continued because servicers appeared without full authority or the necessary information to discuss loss mitigation.⁸¹

As of the end of 2011, New York and New Jersey were considered the states with the longest foreclosure time frames, at about two and one-half years for both states.⁸² Yet there was nothing inherent about the foreclosure procedures in effect in these states that justified these extraordinary delays. In both states the chief judges had entered orders that essentially directed attorneys not to lie in documents they filed with the courts. New Jersey courts have interpreted this certification requirement to add nothing to an attorney's pre-existing duty to present facts truthfully to the courts.⁸³ Similarly, servicers have a duty under most investor guidelines, including under FHA rules, to review borrowers for all available loss mitigation options before they complete a foreclosure. The New York conference statute required only that the servicer show that it had conducted a good faith review of loss mitigation options before it could foreclose. Servicers in compliance with FHA rules should have had no problem meeting all requirements of the New York conference statute, and without any delay. Servicers' participation in settlement conferences such as those required under the New York law should play a vital role in reducing losses to the FHA insurance fund.

The mortgage servicers' pattern of stalling in loss mitigation conference programs was not limited to New York. Mortgage servicers went to great lengths in certain other states to avoid foreclosure mediation programs. For example, from 2010 to 2012, three non-judicial foreclosure jurisdictions—Oregon, Hawaii, and the District of Columbia—enacted new laws requiring foreclosure mediation. These laws applied to all non-judicial foreclosures in these states and required that servicers participate in a loss mitigation review before a foreclosure sale could take place. In each state, mortgage servicers reacted to the new mediation laws by stopping foreclosures almost entirely.⁸⁴ In the District of Columbia, there was on average 234 foreclosures monthly before the mediation law went into effect in 2010. In 2011 the number fell to 20 monthly, and in 2012 only 89 foreclosures took place over the entire year.⁸⁵ The servicers suspended foreclosure sales in the District of Columbia solely to avoid mediations. In Hawaii and Oregon servicers initially evaded mediations by avoiding non-judicial sales and resorting to lengthier judicial foreclosures. Eventually the legislatures in Hawaii and Oregon had to amend their state statutes to require that mediations apply to judicial foreclosures as well.⁸⁶

Florida is another state, like New York, associated with long delays during the foreclosure crisis. Like New York, Florida also had to devote substantial resources to forcing mortgage servicers to move their foreclosures cases forward. During 2010-2011, Florida spent \$9.6 million to implement a "rocket docket" to speed up foreclosures.⁸⁷ Then, in 2013, Florida used \$36 million in funds the state received from the 49-state National Mortgage Settlement⁸⁸ to expedite foreclosures. The state set a goal of closing out 700 foreclosure cases per day. An investigation into the reasons for this massive investment of public funds observed that "state court officials laid blame for the backlog of cases squarely in the laps of mortgage lenders, saying they weren't pursuing cases and they often didn't have the proper paperwork to prove they had the right to foreclose."⁸⁹

D. HUD Recognized the Need to Protect the FHA Insurance Fund from the Impact of Servicers' Foreclosure Delays

By early 2011, HUD recognized that servicers' foreclosure delays had become a serious problem. In March 2011, HUD reported to Congress that the time FHA loans were spending in foreclosure "has risen due to various delays in foreclosure processing imposed by servicers."⁹⁰ FHA's in-foreclosure inventory was at a historic high, 27% higher than a year earlier.⁹¹ These delays had a direct impact on the FHA insurance fund.

When the foreclosure crisis began, HUD allocated funds from its capital reserve account to pay the high volume of insurance claims it expected to receive from servicers over the next three years.⁹² Up until late 2010, servicers submitted post-foreclosure insurance claims to HUD at rates consistent with actuarial predictions based on the number of loans in default.⁹³ But by early 2011, this trend had changed. Servicers' insurance claims were coming in at a

total dollar amount 38% less than predicted.⁹⁴ Widespread foreclosure delays were causing this lower than anticipated level of new claims. In December 2009, only 5.8% of FHA loans in foreclosure were in foreclosure for 19 or more months. By the end of 2011, 25% of FHA loans in foreclosure were pending for this long.⁹⁵

As servicers refrained from submitting FHA insurance claims, HUD realized that the major impact of the servicers' inaction would be felt in the future, when the insurance fund would face a high volume of inflated claims. Notably, the slowdown in servicers' submission of insurance claims did not reflect a decrease in the rate at which loans were going into default. FHA loans were continuing to default at rates consistent with actuarial predictions. The percentage of FHA-insured loans that were in seriously delinquent status remained at a consistently high level from 2010 through 2013.⁹⁶ If not for what HUD termed the servicers' "foreclosure process delays" the actual number of insurance claims being submitted from 2010 through 2013 would have been near or above projections.⁹⁷

HUD was clearly aware of the reasons behind this slowdown. HUD explained the context in its 2011 Annual Report to Congress on the status of the FHA fund:

"Foreclosure processing delays began early in FY 2011, after revelations that major loan servicers had utilized so-called "robo-signing" procedures. Such practices included routine failure to properly validate legal standing to initiate foreclosure actions, or even to document borrower default. As a result of public revelations of these problems, several major U.S. mortgage lenders suspended foreclosures across the United States in the fall of 2010."⁹⁸

In the same report HUD went on to note that federal bank regulators and other federal agencies continued to investigate servicers' foreclosure documentation practices. Aside from the servicers' paperwork problems, HUD cited a second reason for the growing foreclosure delays. According to HUD, "additional process delays arise because numerous States have recently modified their laws to require servicer interaction with borrowers prior to foreclosure initiation, and the courts have been involved in declaring some foreclosure actions illegal."⁹⁹ HUD was referring to the new mediation and conference laws that were attempting to hold servicers accountable for reviewing borrowers for loss mitigation protocols, including FHA's guidelines, before foreclosure sales.¹⁰⁰ When servicers follow the mediation program rules in good faith, these programs do not delay foreclosures.¹⁰¹ Most foreclosure mediation programs were set up to work within existing foreclosure time frames under state laws.

HUD reported in 2011 that delays were appearing at two distinct places in foreclosure proceedings. First, servicers were "purposefully delaying" filing claims after foreclosures, sometimes for up to 12 months, until potential challenges to improper foreclosures were resolved.¹⁰² Second, the inventory of cases in foreclosure but pre-auction was increasing because servicers were reviewing documentation to make sure they would pass court scrutiny before a foreclosure sale.¹⁰³ The greatest concentration of cases with long delays was appearing in judicial foreclosure states. HUD noted that it had to adjust its foreclosure loss calculations to create different models for judicial and non-judicial states.¹⁰⁴

The pattern of delayed foreclosures starts and delayed submission of insurance claims continued during 2011, 2012, and 2013. During 2011, the number of insurance claims submitted and the dollar amounts of the claims paid out was 25% to 35% below estimates that had assumed timely foreclosures.¹⁰⁵ HUD noted that "[a] contributing factor to this gap continues to be

delays in foreclosure processing due to so-called robo-signing problems experienced by many major lenders."¹⁰⁶ During 2012, the prolonged delays led to the payout of claims at approximately half the level anticipated. ¹⁰⁷

HUD initially assumed that the settlement reached in the 49 state attorney generals' investigation would return the rate of submission of FHA insurance claims to the appropriate level.¹⁰⁸ However, at the beginning of 2013, the number of claims submitted continued to be roughly half what HUD had projected based on the high number of loans in default. According to HUD in early 2013, the "principal contributing factor to this gap continues to be delays in foreclosure processing in many areas of the country."¹⁰⁹ As of mid-2013, new foreclosure starts were still occurring at the same low level as at the end of 2011, before the state attorney generals' settlement.¹¹⁰

The delays in paying out FHA insurance claims meant that each claim, when paid late, would be substantially higher than it would have been if the servicer had timely completed the foreclosure. Each year's delay in completion of a foreclosure meant additional costs, fees, and property deterioration costs that HUD would have to pay from the FHA insurance fund.

E. DASP Responded to the Foreclosure Delays

HUD turned to DASP to reduce the losses caused by servicers' delayed submission of postforeclosure insurance claims. The note sales avoid costs associated with waiting for servicers to conduct foreclosure sales and then to manage and market the underlying collateral as an REO property.¹¹¹

HUD developed DASP as a means to address delays while relieving servicers from compliance with the state foreclosure laws. This occurred despite the fact that some of these state laws, if properly followed, would ensure that servicers complied with FHA rules, including the rules requiring effective reviews for loss mitigation. At the time it implemented DASP, HUD had other options for compelling its servicers to comply with long-standing FHA requirements for timely completion of foreclosures. For example, HUD could have threatened to impose meaningful sanctions on servicers who deliberately delayed proceedings. Non-complying servicers could have been excluded from the FHA program. Instead, HUD developed DASP as a means to address delays while relieving servicers from compliance with the state foreclosure laws. This occurred despite the fact that some of these state laws, if properly followed, would ensure that servicers complied with FHA rules, including the rules requiring effective reviews for loss mitigation.

The first large-scale DASP sale took place in September 2012. Through 2013, HUD reported that servicers' delays were continuing to keep insurance claims inappropriately low, but "[c]laims activity should move closer to the actuarial predications as HUD continues its efforts to sell delinquent mortgages out of the foreclosure pipeline through its Distressed Asset Sale Program (DASP)."¹¹² Gradually, as a consequence of DASP, HUD began to pay out more insurance claims earlier in the foreclosure process. During 2013, the FHA insurance fund had a net cash outflow of \$3.6 billion. During

2014 the net cash outflow rose to \$6.4 billion.¹¹³ HUD attributed much of this increase to payment of claims through DASP.¹¹⁴

Payment of FHA insurance claims through DASP sales became the predominant HUD alternative to payment of the claims after servicers worked through the slower post-foreclosure REO sale process. At the time it implemented DASP, HUD acknowledged the program's direct effect on the rate of payment of insurance claims related to the foreclosure slowdowns. According to HUD, the "DASP auctions have enabled HUD to reduce potential loss exposure by directly addressing the large backlog of foreclosure actions that has accumulated since 2009."¹¹⁵ According to HUD, "DASP was instrumental in FHA's efforts to reduce the backlog of seriously delinquent loans resulting from foreclosure moratoriums instituted by servicers prior to the completion of the National Servicing Settlement."¹¹⁶ Considered solely as a means to accelerate payment of insurance claims, DASP appeared to work.

F. DASP Undermined HUD's Helpful Revisions to its Loss Mitigation Guidelines

DASP was part of a larger HUD strategy to relieve stress on the FHA insurance fund. Another means by which HUD hoped to reduce losses from the fund was to re-design the loss mitigation options that it offered to borrowers.¹¹⁷ HUD recognized that improved loss mitigation strategies could benefit the insurance fund. Therefore, in 2012 the agency announced significant changes to its loan modification options. HUD indicated that the revised loss mitigation policies would be geared towards greater payment relief for borrowers, including allowing modifications to set payment levels as low as 25% of borrowers' household income.¹¹⁸ HUD acknowledged that "[t]his approach will yield lower claim costs for FHA while also reducing repayment speeds for insured loans, both of which will positively impact the MMI Fund."¹¹⁹

In 2012 HUD chose to follow two paths to deal with the unprecedented losses from the insurance fund that had occurred since 2008.¹²⁰ One strategy was to implement more effective loss mitigation options designed to prevent foreclosure sales. The other was to terminate loans' participation in the FHA insurance program early, before foreclosures were completed. These strategies did not have to work at cross-purposes. A balanced approach that included rigorous application of the improved FHA loss mitigation protocols in conjunction with note sales could have worked harmoniously. Unfortunately, the servicers' loss mitigation compliance remained weak while the note sales accelerated. Although HUD was clearly aware of the potential of better loss mitigation to improve the financial status of the fund while simultaneously saving homes, it does not appear that HUD performed any significant analysis to quantify the benefit of effective loss mitigation or to enable any comparison to the effect of the DASP program.

Historically, servicers' compliance with FHA loss mitigation rules was consistently poor, with few repercussions for the servicers who ignored the rules. This lack of compliance continued with the DASP program, despite the simultaneous implementation of FHA's new loss mitigation rules. DASP became a tool servicers could use to evade FHA's loss mitigation requirements and have their insurance claims paid. At the same time DASP opened a path for servicers to avoid the application of state laws designed to promote compliance with FHA's loss mitigation rules. As discussed next, DASP marked a dramatic departure from long-standing HUD practices for payment of FHA insurance claims.

G. HUD's Troubling Shift to Payment of Insurance Claims Without Foreclosure

During 2012 and 2013 HUD embarked upon what it described as "new approaches to claim resolution and asset disposition."¹²¹ These approaches, primarily involving DASP, marked a shift away from its traditional practice of payment of FHA insurance claims after completion of foreclosures.¹²² Prior to 2012, HUD relied primarily on the foreclosure sale process to trigger lender insurance claims. Before DASP, HUD paid out only a small portion of all FHA insurance claims through alternatives, such as after short sales. For example, in 2011 approximately 80% of FHA insurance claims were paid through the traditional process after foreclosure sales, while only 20% of claims were paid through various alternatives.¹²³

By 2013, HUD had concluded that REO sales were too expensive to serve as the primary property disposition method.¹²⁴ By 2014-15, HUD was paying most insurance claims (over 55%) through the alternatives processes that did not involve a completed foreclosure.¹²⁵ This was largely due to the increase in DASP sales. This change has meant that since 2013 HUD paid out most FHA insurance claims related to defaulted mortgages without a foreclosure sale.

HUD's assumption behind the new emphasis on alternatives to foreclosure sales was that this strategy would produce smaller losses from the insurance fund. Initially at least, this did not turn out to be true. Loans sold under DASP in 2013 produced greater losses on average than loans terminated through the traditional foreclosure sale process.¹²⁶ HUD explained these outcomes by pointing to "unique characteristics" of the loans selected for DASP sales.¹²⁷ HUD pointed out that "[t]he Note Sale program was used to assist in clearing the big foreclosure backlog created during the robo-signing litigation."¹²⁸ Therefore the properties secured by DASP loans were "mostly located in judicial states and which experience delayed foreclosure states drove the higher loss rates for DASP sales. DASP sales involved loans that would have incurred particularly high losses if left to dispositions that involved completed judicial foreclosure jurisdictions, HUD still considered DASP sales to be the less costly alternative.¹³⁰

During 2014 and 2015, the note sales produced smaller losses on average than completed foreclosure sales.¹³¹ These results supported HUD's assumption that selling off loans early in the foreclosure process would result in smaller losses to the insurance fund than waiting until after a foreclosure sale to pay the claim. Given that servicers continue to select DASP loans primarily from a few judicial foreclosure states, the financial benefit to the insurance fund seems to hold true even when crisis-driven "backlogs" of foreclosure cases shrink.

Since the foreclosure crisis began, foreclosure losses in the range of 50%-60% of the loan balance have not been unusual for most types of loans.¹³² On average, the loss rate from postdefault dispositions of FHA-insured properties declined from 63.5% in the first quarter of 2010 to 51.3% in the fourth quarter of 2015.¹³³ These general FHA loss rates included losses from all types of default dispositions, including traditional REO sales after foreclosures, short sales, and DASP sales. HUD also touts DASP's success by reporting that from fiscal years 2012 through 2015 the amounts bid at DASP auctions improved from 40% of unpaid principal balance to approximately 60%.¹³⁴ It must be noted, however, that significant causes unrelated to DASP have reduced losses from the FHA insurance fund since 2012. With new financial forces moving into the distressed asset sale market, bidding at foreclosure auctions has become more competitive.¹³⁵ As a result, losses per foreclosure have decreased across the board, both for HUD's traditional foreclosure sale dispositions and for alternative disposition methods such as DASP.¹³⁶ For example, the average loss rate from post-foreclosure REO sales of FHA loans was 71.7% in FY 2011.137 The loss rate dropped to 56.7% in FY 2015.138 These improved REO sale outcomes translate to a significant decline in the overall insurance fund loss rate even without DASP. It is true that loss rates from more recent DASP sales have been lower than losses from postforeclosure REO sales (49.8% loss rate for DASP sales compared to 56.7% for traditional REO sales in 2015). However, the fund's loss rates would have shown a major decline after 2012 levels absent DASP. In addition, HUD is unable to quantify the losses caused by the failure to perform appropriate loss mitigation on many loans sold through DASP or otherwise improperly foreclosed. While some subset of DASP sales might be an appropriate measure, sales of loans that have not completed FHA loss mitigation reviews cannot be justified, even with the lower loss ratios.

There is obviously some financial benefit to the FHA insurance fund in cutting out the time needed to comply with procedures required by certain state foreclosure laws. The pertinent question, however, should not be whether we can identify some benefit in an analysis that looks at DASP in isolation. The real question is at what overall cost does this benefit come? Does the benefit outweigh other harm that DASP causes? Should DASP be one tool among many, rather than the primary tool to address foreclosure backlogs? These questions are particularly important because HUD restructured and improved its loss mitigation options to provide real alternatives to foreclosure at the same time that it expanded its note sales.

H. What Might Have Been: HUD's Missed Opportunity to Apply its Improved Loss Mitigation Program to the Backlog of Foreclosure Crisis Cases

The major participants in the mortgage servicing industry revised their loss mitigation options dramatically in response to the foreclosure crisis. Beginning in 2009, the overwhelming majority of home mortgages in default were eligible for review for some form of modification under the U.S. Treasury Department's Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP). Nearly all large servicers signed on to the HAMP program. Servicers of loans owned or guaranteed by one of the Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs) Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were obligated to review borrowers in default for HAMP options. From 2009 through 2011, servicers permanently modified 933,000 mortgage loans under the Treasury and GSE HAMP programs. Significant payment reductions came with these modifications.¹³⁹ The typical Treasury HAMP modification reduced the borrower's payment by 36%.¹⁴⁰ Because these reductions created affordable payments, borrower re-default rates were consistently lower than under non-HAMP modifications.¹⁴¹

During the period of unprecedented mortgage modification activity from 2009 through 2011, FHA's loss mitigation program lagged behind market developments. FHA had not significantly revised its loss mitigation options since 1996.¹⁴² In mid-2009, FHA announced its own version of the HAMP program (FHA-HAMP).¹⁴³ FHA-HAMP offered a formula for modifying a loan to achieve an affordable payment. However, the original design for FHA-HAMP

was so flawed that it assured negligible participation. Borrowers who were more than 12 months in arrears were ineligible. Servicers routinely took more than 12 months to review a borrower for eligibility, leading inevitably to denials on timeliness grounds. In addition, FHA set debt-to-income ratio requirements that excluded many applicants. From the inception of FHA-HAMP in July 2009 through 2011, FHA servicers approved fewer than 12,000 FHA-HAMP modifications.¹⁴⁴ At the end of 2011, there were 711,000 FHA loans in seriously delinquent status.¹⁴⁵

While servicers of other types of loans were implementing nearly one million HAMP modifications, FHA servicers continued to focus on non-modification options. These were typically short-term forbearance and repayment plans that did not provide sustainable solutions for unaffordable loans.¹⁴⁶ The modifications that FHA servicers did approve were overwhelmingly FHA standard modifications.¹⁴⁷ The FHA standard modification applied a cookie-cutter formula unrelated to affordability. While Treasury HAMP modifications were reducing borrower payments by over one-third, FHA standard modifications reduced payments on average by about 11%, a percentage unlikely to prevent re-default.¹⁴⁸

In early 2012, the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) examined the performance of FHA loss mitigation compared to all other major loss mitigation programs, including those for conventional, GSE, and other government-insured loans. FHA came out worst in the comparison, behind all other industry players. ¹⁴⁹ When compared to all other categories of home loans, FHA loans had the highest post-modification re-default rates.

To its credit, FHA substantially revised its loss mitigation protocols during 2012-13. FHA came out with a new design for FHA-HAMP and an entirely revamped set of loss mitigation guidelines for evaluating borrowers. The new formulas permitted modifications with substantial payment reduction, allowing payments as low as 25% of the borrower's income.

The new FHA loss mitigation guidelines had the potential to benefit homeowners and the insurance fund in substantial ways. Unfortunately, the rules were complicated. Servicers needed robust oversight from HUD if they were going to implement the guidelines properly. At the same time, servicer delays had created a huge backlog of mortgages in default. Many of these loans had been in default for years with little attention from servicers. These were the circumstances under which HUD decided to ramp up its DASP program, a program that allowed servicers to shortcut state foreclosure procedures, terminate FHA insurance early, sidestep FHA loss mitigation reviews, and cut off homeowner access to all FHA options.

By rolling out DASP, FHA undermined implementation of its own improved loss mitigation program. At the time, hundreds of thousands of loans in default desperately needed reviews under FHA's new guidelines. Instead, FHA offered servicers an option to receive immediate payment of insurance claims without sufficient oversight to ensure loss mitigation had been exhausted. Not surprisingly, the largest mortgage servicers, the ones who had caused and perpetuated the foreclosure delays, were quick to respond. Servicers, such as Bank of America, Wells Fargo, and JP Morgan Chase, chose most of the loans to be sold through DASP sales.¹⁵⁰

As the examples from the Philadelphia mediation program show, HUD has allowed DASP sales to proceed without effective oversight of servicers' loss mitigation activities. Selling off an FHA loan when the default could have been cured and an insurance claim avoided clearly

harms the insurance fund. Without a meaningful analysis of the critical relation between loss mitigation and sound management of the insurance fund, HUD was not in a position to assess the real cost of DASP as an impediment to FHA's loss mitigation program, and consequently as a drain on the insurance fund.

In its 2012 report on government agencies' loss mitigation performance, the GAO repeatedly cited FHA's long-standing failure to assess the beneficial impact of loss mitigation on protecting the insurance fund. Significantly, the GAO noted that HUD had not evaluated the cost-effectiveness of specific loss mitigation options in relation to particular loan and borrower characteristics, such as borrower income and loan-to-value ratio.¹⁵¹ Because of these deficiencies, the GAO found that FHA and HUD had "a limited understanding of the ultimate costs of their loss mitigation programs."¹⁵² Without this understanding HUD could not appropriately balance the tradeoffs "between assisting borrowers to keep their homes and helping ensure the lowest cost to the taxpayer." ¹⁵³ Comparing FHA's assessments of its loss mitigation programs with those by Without a meaningful analysis of the critical relation between loss mitigation and sound management of the insurance fund, HUD was not in a position to assess the real cost of DASP as an impediment to FHA's loss mitigation program, and consequently as a drain on the insurance fund.

the Treasury Department (for HAMP) and the GSEs, the GAO concluded that FHA lacked adequate data to evaluate the costs and benefits of loss mitigation as it pertained to both borrowers and taxpayers.¹⁵⁴

I. HUD's Loan Sale Program During the 1990s Showed that HUD Can Set Standards for Distressed Loan Buyers

DASP was not HUD's first program to involve sales of tens of thousands of single-family home mortgages. Until 1996, HUD operated a program under which HUD itself took assignments of defaulted FHA insured loans ("the HUD Assignment Program"). After taking ownership of the loans, HUD staff would oversee loss mitigation for them. In the early 1990s, HUD held 110,000 mortgages under the Assignment Program. From 1994 through 1997, as part of the phase-out of the Assignment Program, HUD auctioned off nearly 100,000 HUDowned loans to private investors.

There were significant differences between the procedures HUD used for the 1990s loan sales and the structure it set up for DASP sales. Most significantly, in the 1990s HUD required that buyers continue to service the loans under the same guidelines that HUD staff were using while HUD owned the loans.¹⁵⁵ The 1990s sales did not cut off the loss mitigation options that applied to the loans before the sales. In addition, after the sales HUD continued to monitor the new servicers directly to verify compliance with HUD's servicing standards. HUD provided a complaint mechanism through which borrowers could notify HUD if a new servicer was not complying with HUD's rules. HUD staff would be available to mediate between the borrower and the new servicer.

HUD now takes the position that a DASP sale cuts off the loan's participation in the FHA program, including any obligation to follow FHA servicing guidelines. With the exception of the small portion of loans sold under "Neighborhood Stabilization" pools, HUD has not set clear, enforceable standards for loss mitigation once the loans are sold.¹⁵⁶ Homeowners are not told in advance that their loans will be sold. Once the sale has taken place, homeowners have no effective recourse to HUD to correct abusive practices of the new servicers.

After the 1990s loan sales, HUD had a research firm evaluate the status of the loans sold under the program. According to the firm's review of data two years after the sales, the new servicers resolved nearly all loan accounts within six months of purchase, and 61% of the loans were performing. ¹⁵⁷ This resolution rate contrasts starkly with the DASP program. For example, for the sale of 27,580 loans in large national pools conducted in June and September 2014 (SFLS 2014-2), HUD described about one-half as "unresolved" as of January 2016. Only 11.7% were considered performing.¹⁵⁸

HUD would not need to reinstitute the old assignment program in order to exercise effective control over buyers of distressed loans. HUD controlled buyers in the 1990s sales through the terms of auction bidder contracts. HUD could include enhanced provisions in the bidding agreements for future loan sales and develop appropriate enforcement mechanisms to make sure the purchasers complied with the terms.

The Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs), Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, have shown a greater willingness to include homeowner protections in the contract terms for sales of their non-performing loans. Beginning in 2015, Fannie Mae has required that buyers have the ability to review borrowers for HAMP modifications. In April 2016, the conservator for the GSEs announced three new requirements for purchasers of non-performing GSE loans.¹⁵⁹ These included a requirement that purchasers review certain underwater loans for principal reduction modifications and implement these modifications if appropriate under a net present value test. The new GSE guidelines also limit the rate at which interest rates may be increased under post-sale modifications. Finally, the GSEs will bar loan purchasers from unilaterally releasing liens to abandon vacant properties. These new GSE requirements are narrow, and it remains to be seen how they will be enforced. HUD could certainly develop more rigorous standards based on its published guidelines for FHA servicers.

IV. ASSESSING DASP'S IMPACT ON HOMEOWNERS

A. The Evidence Does Not Show that DASP Helps Homeowners

When HUD announced the ramped-up loan sale program in mid-2012, it emphasized the potential benefits for homeowners. In June 2012, then-HUD Secretary Donovan described HUD's plan to increase note sales tenfold as a "program to give more homeowners with seriously delinquent loans the chance to avoid foreclosure."¹⁶⁰ HUD took the position that while a loan remained insured by FHA the servicer could not reduce the principal balance as part of a modification. According to HUD, removing the obligation to comply with FHA rules would allow a new servicer to modify loans by reducing the principal balances owed. HUD's view presumed that market incentives would drive the new servicers to exercise greater flexibility to accommodate borrowers. According to HUD, "[b]ecause the loans are generally sold for less than what the borrower currently owes, the purchaser has the ability to reduce or modify the loan terms while still making a return on the initial investment."¹⁶¹ This would provide "the opportunity for the borrowers to potentially stay in their home under a new sustainable mortgage or other meaningful help."¹⁶²
This did not materialize. There is little evidence that the private investors purchasing HUD loans are approving loss mitigation options with more favorable terms than would have been available under FHA's guidelines. For-profit investors have purchased 98% of the loans sold under DASP.¹⁶³ In reports about DASP, HUD has sought to describe the outcomes in a positive manner. However, the numbers do not support such a view.¹⁶⁴ HUD's reports rely on vague terminology and give little specific information about what actually happened to loans after DASP sales. For example, HUD's report covering data for loan sales from 2010 to January 2016 indicated that 35.5% of 89,000 loans sold were still "Not Yet Resolved."¹⁶⁵ This meant that the servicer was still reporting the loan as in "delinquent servicing" – a final resolution of the default had not been reached.¹⁶⁶ Loans sold through DASP were on average

There is little evidence that the private investors purchasing HUD loans are approving loss mitigation options with more favorable terms than would have been available under FHA's guidelines.

29 months delinquent before the sales.¹⁶⁷ If modifications with principal reduction had been a naturally attractive option, one would think that buyers would have acted quickly to put these modifications in place. The fact that such a large portion of these long-term delinquent loans remained in "black hole" status long after the note sales is troubling.

For the 65% of loans that HUD labeled as "resolved" after a DASP sale, the vagueness of reported outcomes raises similar concerns. HUD pointed out that for 43% of the "resolved" loans foreclosures were "avoided."¹⁶⁸ However, under the rubric of "foreclosure avoided" HUD included all instances where the borrower gave up the property through a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or short sale. The category also included cases where the borrower paid off the loan or was merely in a short-term forbearance period.¹⁶⁹

As of January 2016, HUD reported about 16.8% of the "resolved" loans as "re-performing."¹⁷⁰ HUD further divided the "re-performing" resolved loans between those that were "re-performing with loan modification" (15.3% of resolved loans) and those that were "re-performing – other" (1.5% of resolved loans). The 16.8% figure for re-performing loans shrinks in the larger context. Roughly one-third the loans sold under DASP remained "unresolved." In addition, HUD did not provide data on another 15% of the loans sold because DASP purchasers had already sold them to other buyers.¹⁷¹ Therefore, the 16.8% of "resolved" loans that HUD could identify as re-performing did not comprise more than about 10% of the loans sold under the program.

What was really going on with the 10% of DASP loans that were supposedly "re-performing?" HUD defined a "modification" as either a trial or permanent modification, but did not report anything about the structure of these agreements.¹⁷² We do not know whether HUD simply accepted servicers' characterizations of certain resolutions as modifications even though they did not permanently change loan terms. The more specific examples discussed next call into question the loan buyers' labeling practices. Nor do we know the extent to which the modifications targeted affordable payments based on the borrowers' income. Most significantly, we do not know whether the modifications were better or worse than a modification the borrower could have received under FHA's current guidelines if a DASP sale had not taken place.

HUD has the ability to collect useful and reliable data about loss mitigation outcomes after DASP sales. The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, for example, publishes quarterly reports with detailed breakdowns of loan modification characteristics for millions of conventional mortgage loans.¹⁷³ The Treasury Department has published monthly summaries of hundreds of thousands of modifications under the HAMP program, including details of how loan terms changed and how the changes affected affordability.¹⁷⁴ As HUD was beginning the large-scale DASP sales in 2012, HUD declined to establish such requirements. HUD could easily have required the buyers to report this information on a regular basis. The data would show whether DASP sales actually do benefit homeowners by providing flexible, sustainable loss mitigation, as HUD had announced at the program's inception.

The evidence of the actual loss mitigation offers that DASP buyers are giving borrowers substantiates the concerns raised about the program. The evidence does not support the theoretical analysis behind HUD's pro-borrower spin. Some major servicers of DASP loans are presenting borrowers with options that include long-term payment plans that are labeled as loan modifications, but are not true modifications that permanently change loan terms. Other servicers for the buyers offer "trial modifications" coupled with vague offers to consider the borrower for a modification at some distant time in the future. The offers often do not refer to the terms of a permanent modification or to any established program for calculating the terms. Caliber, a servicer acting for one of the largest purchasers at DASP sales, offers fiveyear "interest only" payment plans. These plans lull borrowers with a teaser payment that will eventually convert to a level at least as high as the previously unaffordable payment and include a huge balloon payment due for all earlier unpaid amounts. Calling these types of offers "modifications" of the mortgage is deceptive. Still other servicers require substantial lump-sum payments as the initial step in any loan modification.

HUD's reporting terminology puts a favorable gloss over many of these questionable practices. A homeowner making payments under one of these "modifications" has likely not been offered a long-term solution. These types of offers, combined with the trend of homeowners who have their loans sold before they have exhausted FHA loss mitigation, belie any claim that DASP tends to provide better solutions to homeowners. At the same time, DASP allows the new owners to bide their time, collect payments, re-sell the loans as "performing," or foreclose whenever they choose.

HUD's data regarding performance of loans after note sales must be viewed in the light of these practices. For example, Lone Star Funds purchased 16,686 loans from the national pools sold in Loan Sale Number 2014-2 (June, September 2014). Lone Star's purchases represented 61% of the loans sold in that sale. HUD's status report from January 2016 indicates that 50% of the loans from this sale were "resolved" and 20% of these resolved loans were "Re-Performing with Loan Modification."¹⁷⁵ We happen to know something about the terms of the offers that Lone Star has called "modifications." During the latter part of 2014 and in early 2015, many homeowners received documents containing offers from Caliber Home Loans, Loan Star's servicer. Caliber informed the homeowners: "Your request for a loan modification has been approved" and the mailing included a document captioned "Modification

Agreement – Limited Term."¹⁷⁶ Caliber's standard agreement contained the following language:

Summary of Modification: We will reduce the balance on which interest is accruing and we may lower the interest rate for a period of time called the Reduction Period. During the Reduction Period you will make monthly "interest only" payments (plus escrow and Ancillary payments). Certain amounts are deferred, meaning that you still owe them, but they will be collected by the Servicer at a later date. On the Reduction Period End Date, your Loan and interest rate will revert to the terms of the operative loan documents and your payment may increase. Deferred amounts will remain deferred.¹⁷⁷

It is hard to see how these terms create a loan modification. The agreement does not reduce the debt the homeowner must repay. Instead, it capitalizes arrearages to increase the interestbearing principal. The agreement does not specify a maturity date for repayment, so it is not possible to tell whether there will be a balloon payment due at maturity and how large that balloon payment will be. Most importantly, the interest rate reverts back to the original loan terms when the reduction period ends. Because the principal balance has increased, the monthly payment for principal and interest will likely end up significantly higher than the pre-modification payment, the payment that led the homeowner into default. There is no long-term benefit to the borrower from these terms. The homeowner pays for five years and never reduces the debt. There is a benefit for Lone Star, however. The loan "performs" for five years and Lone Star can sell the loan at any time if it can make a profit off the deal.

Under current bidder agreements, purchasers of DASP loans must wait twelve months before they can foreclose. Before 2015, the waiting period was only six months. While the six-month period applied, servicers for DASP buyers were structuring modification agreements to last for six months. Two servicers of DASP loans, Selene Finance and Rushmore Loan Management, offered homeowners these six-month agreements, labeled trial modification plans, without providing details as to what the repayment terms would be after six months.¹⁷⁸ Selene's offer required that the homeowner make an initial payment of \$10,000 to start off the trial plan, while Rushmore's offer demanded a \$6,000 initial payment. Under these agreements the servicer could allow the loan to "perform" for six months, but be under no obligation to keep the terms affordable thereafter. Bayview, the largest buyer of DASP loans, placed homeowners in particularly precarious modification agreements. Bayview's form modification agreement provided that if the homeowner defaulted on a payment, the homeowner must give up the property immediately through a deed in lieu of foreclosure or short sale.¹⁷⁹

B. The Changes to DASP HUD Announced in 2015 Contain No Specific Resolutions to Long-Standing Problems with the Program

In April 2015, HUD issued a press release announcing several technical changes to the DASP program. These changes were to be effective with an auction to be held later that year.¹⁸⁰ One of the changes announced was that future purchasers of loans through DASP will be required to delay foreclosure for twelve months instead of six months after they acquire the mortgages. The extension may help borrowers in a few situations. However, investors with a legitimate interest in preserving the existing mortgages could easily have approved a modification or similar option within six months.

HUD also began requiring future buyers of loans through DASP to evaluate all borrowers for some form of HAMP modification. HUD never established any guidelines on what this "HAMP-like" modification should be or how it intends to enforce this requirement. The Treasury Department's HAMP program is ending at the end of 2016 and there is no indication yet regarding what type of requirement will replace it.¹⁸¹ FHA's version of HAMP (FHA-HAMP) works within a comprehensive "waterfall" protocol that guides the servicer in a review for a series of FHA loss mitigation options. HUD did not suggest that it is making the entire FHA loss mitigation program binding on DASP buyers. Over the past year, HUD has not provided a clear explanation of how it will enforce this unique FHA servicing option on non-FHA servicers. Similarly, it has not explained how it will require the private equity firms and hedge funds that buy the loans to honor this requirement when they re-sell the loans. Without transparent standards and a rigorous enforcement structure, asking servicers to modify loams has little value.

HUD also indicated that it was imposing more reporting requirements on buyers of DASP loans. HUD did not describe how detailed these reporting requirements will be or when they will be made public. Finally, HUD stated that it was enhancing pre-sale screening of loans entering into DASP pools. Here again, HUD did not release any details about this screening procedure. These changes do not go far enough to resolve the problems with the DASP program.

C. Most FHA Loans are Sold By the Servicers Who Caused Major Foreclosure Delays

HUD allows mortgage servicers to select the loans that it sells through DASP. In its reports HUD identifies the servicers that supplied most of the loans for the sales. HUD's disclosures show that a few very large mortgage servicers supplied the majority of loans that passed through DASP.

DASP could be called "The Bank of America" loan sale program, as 44,501 DASP loans were sold in pools made up exclusively of Bank of America loans. Another 16,830 were sold in pools that consisted of Bank of America loans mixed with loans from another servicer, typically JP Morgan Chase. Wells Fargo, JP Morgan Chase, and Bank of America were the three largest servicers of residential mortgages throughout the foreclosure crisis. They are also the largest servicers of FHA mortgages.¹⁸² Of the 101,254 loans that HUD sold up to August 2015, 67,059 came from these three servicers. DASP could be called "The Bank of America" loan sale program, as 44,501 DASP loans were sold in pools made up exclusively of Bank of America loans. Another 16,830 were sold in pools that consisted of Bank of America loans mixed with loans from another servicer, typically JP Morgan Chase.

Roughly two-thirds of the billions of dollars in FHA insurance claims paid out under DASP went to Bank of America, Wells Fargo, and JP Morgan Chase. Notably, these were three of the five servicers targeted by the 49 state attorney generals' investigations during 2010-12. The involvement of these particular servicers goes a long way to explaining the extensive delays, averaging two and one-half years of delinquency, for the loans sold through DASP. It also explains the concentration of loans from judicial foreclosure

states. These were the servicers most under scrutiny from courts and government agencies, a scrutiny that turned out to be well-founded.

D. Most DASP Purchasers are Private Equity Firms and Hedge Funds

The winners of DASP auctions have been almost exclusively large private equity firms and hedge funds.¹⁸³ These are firms that specialize in buying up distressed assets. They may tinker marginally with the assets they buy, but their goal is eventually to sell them to someone else for a profit. The recycling periods may last two, three, or more years, but the firms' ultimate objective remains to resell the assets for substantially more than they paid for them.¹⁸⁴



CHART 2 Top 10 Loan Buyers of FHA Defaulted DASP Loans

Loans purchased --- Total unpaid principal balance of loans purchased

Source: RealtyTrac, February 2016.

Two private equity firms, Bayview Asset Management and Lone Star Funds, have bought the largest shares of DASP loans.¹⁸⁵ Neither firm has a credible track record for building stable communities. The Blackstone Group owns the controlling interest in Bayview. Blackstone is the largest buyer of non-performing loans in the country, and the largest private equity firm generally. Blackstone is the leading funder behind the conversion of former single-family-owned homes into rental properties.¹⁸⁶ This trend has spawned a new generation of mega-landlords that own small empires of single-family rental homes.¹⁸⁷ As this trend develops, absentee landlords replace homeowners and former homeowners face higher housing costs as renters.

Lone Star Fund's role as the major purchaser of DASP loans raises concerns as well. Lone Star services mortgages through its subsidiary, Caliber Home Loans. Caliber's chairman and CEO, Joe Anderson, previously led Countrywide Mortgage's marketing division. Countrywide was a prime driver of the bad lending practices that led to the foreclosure crisis.¹⁸⁸ The third

largest DASP purchaser is Selene Residential Partners. Selene is a division of Ranieri Partners, whose Chairman and Founding Partner Lewis Ranieri was a key promoter of mortgage-backed securities during the subprime boom.¹⁸⁹ Overall, the cast of characters buying the bulk of FHA loans has not demonstrated a commitment to distressed homeowners and neighborhoods.

HUD has not produced evidence that Bayview, Lone Star, and the other private equity firms purchasing DASP loans are agreeing to reduce principal balances as part of modifications on any regular basis.¹⁹⁰ Overwhelmingly, the speculative buyers have not modified loans at all. They foreclose much more frequently than they modify loans. For example, for the second large DASP National Pool auction during 2013, the buyers reported that they had modified 9.1% of the loans while they foreclosed on 56.8% of them.¹⁹¹ In addition, many of the loans not foreclosed were disposed of through short sales or deeds in lieu of foreclosure rather than preserved through home retention options.¹⁹² As previously discussed, even the modifications offered are often not sustainable.

Arguably, some private equity firms and hedge funds have an interest in converting "nonperforming" loans into "performing" loans. Performing loans can fetch more money upon resale than non-performing loans. However, to label a loan "performing" the firms do not have to modify it. They certainly do not have to reduce the principal balance. There are easier ways to designate a loan as "performing." As described previously, when Caliber offers a "loan modification," it is routinely a five-year interest-only payment plan. The agreement does not permanently restructure the loan terms, as occurs when a loan is modified. Instead, the borrower remains liable for the full loan balance and faces reversion to the old loan terms – to the payment obligation that the borrower could not afford before the DASP sale. These steps may help Caliber and Lone Star maximize the amount of money they make when they sell the loan (or the empty house) in a few years to someone else, but they do not help the borrower

Taking the fire sale approach and welcoming high-paying financial speculators might be an acceptable alternative if HUD's only obligation under federal law was to manage an insurance fund. Congress, however, directed HUD to fulfill another purpose as well. This was to preserve homeownership for families who would otherwise not have this opportunity. remain a homeowner for the long term.

Financial speculators are the primary source of funds for bailing out the insurance fund through DASP sales because they are willing and able to pay the most money for the loans. Lone Star describes its investment approach as to capitalize on market conditions in which "[f]inancial institutions' balance sheets are under pressure and there is a need to dispose of high volumes of assets to manage capital, deleverage and build liquidity."¹⁹³ This accurately described HUD's position with respect to the FHA insurance fund in 2012. Private equity firms could appear to be natural partners for institutions in HUD's position at the time. The equity firms borrow heavily from pension funds, wealthy investors, and other public and private institutions. They securitize the income flows from their holdings, attracting capital at advantageous rates. With their access to these resources the large speculative investors can pay higher prices and squeeze out smaller community-focused bidders.

Taking the fire sale approach and welcoming high-paying financial speculators might be an acceptable alternative if HUD's only obligation under federal law was to manage an insurance fund. Congress, however, directed HUD to fulfill another purpose as well. This was to preserve homeownership for families who would otherwise not have this opportunity. This second purpose must always guide HUD's exercise of discretion in implementing the FHA housing program.

The equity funds' business model is focused on asset recycling. This model does not align with HUD's obligation to preserve homeownership, as directed by Congress, whenever feasible. Speculative investors can easily maximize payouts from distressed loans without doing the work of formally modifying the loans.

The incentives of the servicers who manage loans on behalf of DASP investors are similarly not aligned with the goal of homeownership. Mortgage servicers get paid based on the terms of their contracts with the investors who own the loans. These compensation structures often discourage modifications. Thus, servicers' own financial incentives often lead them to fore-close rather than modify mortgage loans.¹⁹⁴

V. RECOMMENDATIONS

HUD must not conduct further loan sales unless and until it has put in place a strong and effective system for enforcement of its loss mitigation requirements and consistent, fair **post-sale requirements that promote homeownership.** We recommend the following:

1. Enhance loss mitigation compliance.

- Require servicers to document and certify compliance with each step of FHA's sequential loss mitigation review, including documentation of the grounds for denial of foreclosure alternatives, before HUD pays a claim. FHA-insured loans are routinely processed through foreclosure by mortgage servicers who fail to comply with FHA loss mitigation guidelines. DASP currently rewards those servicers and loan owners by paying off their claims early, saving them the time and expense of completing foreclosures in compliance with FHA rules. Yet, FHA guidelines are tailored to promote homeownership even in the face of hardship, providing a flexible menu of options geared to low and moderate income homeowners. While current oversight measures primarily rely on self-certification by servicers, a system in which servicers would be required to document the steps taken to follow FHA rules would enhance compliance and improve outcomes. The simple act of requiring documentation and certification is likely to increase up-front compliance more than any back-end supervision program.
- Create a review and appeal procedure for loss mitigation decisions using neutral decision makers. The National Servicing Center now receives homeowner complaints but generally does not provide a de novo review of a servicer's response to a homeowner's request for loss mitigation. The NSC should offer appeals from FHA servicer denials or reviews of FHA loss mitigation problems that engage in fact-finding and require the servicer to follow procedures where the servicer has not adhered to requirements. Homeowners routinely face servicer non-compliance and generally have little recourse without seeking legal assistance. Such a procedure ideally would be implemented by a new neutral hearing-officer structure, although it could be established within the current structure.

- Impose penalties on servicers who delay processing loss mitigation requests or systemically circumvent FHA loss mitigation requirements. Delays in processing loss mitigation requests undermine home retention and impose significant costs on the FHA insurance fund by increasing the chances of foreclosure and inflating amounts due under a loan. HUD must use its statutory authority to impose penalties on repeat players who abuse the system, harm homeownership, and undermine FHA's program goals.
- **Require servicers to provide notice to homeowners.** Such notice would accurately inform homeowners about the sale process, servicer obligations before and after sales, and homeowners' rights under these note sale transactions, including the status and results of any loss mitigation outreach and review. The notice should be provided prior to the inclusion of a loan in a DASP pool and provide a homeowner with adequate opportunity to finish the loss mitigation process if it is still underway. Notice is needed because homeowners are routinely learning that their loans were sold while they are still seeking to complete the loss mitigation review process. Moreover, homeowners generally are unaware of the sales and the effect they have on homeowner rights.
- Develop transparent and fair guidelines for determining which defaulted loans are sold. HUD should develop objective guidelines for determination of which defaulted loans are sold. These guidelines should ensure that servicers are not using the process to avoid compliance with more protective state foreclosure laws.
- **Promote compliance with state and local laws, including mediation requirements.** State and municipal mediation programs create a forum for engagement between servicers and homeowners facing hardship and produce better home retention results. As a result, mediation programs support better compliance with FHA loss mitigation guidelines. HUD should include in its oversight measures to ensure and promote compliance with mediation programs.

2. Improve buyer oversight.

Implement a detailed loss mitigation protocol that provides top-tier loss mitigation protections to homeowners. The GSEs have required purchasers at its non-performing note sales to apply some basic standards in reviewing borrowers for loss mitigation. In 2015, Fannie Mae began to require that buyers contract with HAMP servicers and provide HAMP reviews for all homeowners whose loans have been subject to a note sale. In April 2016, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA) set some minimal requirements for consideration of principal reduction and restricted interest rate hikes in post-sale modifications. HUD's requirements are less specific and therefore less protective. As a minimum standard, HUD should require actual FHA-HAMP reviews, rather than settling for "substantially similar" offerings. Proprietary modifications generally are not as affordable for homeowners and do not provide the same level of long-term performance. Because HAMP modifications, including FHA-HAMP, are offered within the context of a larger loss mitigation protocol, HUD should require evaluations for FHA-HAMP within a comprehensive set of loss mitigation options. These options should be at least as supportive of sustained homeownership as FHA's current loss mitigation guidelines. The options should include review for principal reduction because that is the major benefit for homeowners HUD announced in launching the loan sale program.

- Require that purchasers of distressed loans disclose their loss mitigation protocols. As long as loans are FHA-insured, a set of defined, publicly available loss mitigation guide-lines apply to them. Homeowners and housing counselors can look at these rules and know what the available options are. This transparency evaporates when servicers for buyers of FHA loans take over. The new servicers act arbitrarily. To the extent that they follow any system, their protocols are secret. These servicers sometimes deny that they offer any form of loss mitigation at all. Attorneys for homeowners have had to pursue litigation aggressively just to get the servicers to disclose what options they offer. HUD should require a transparent disclosure of available loss mitigation options as an essential element of the contracts to bid at distressed loan auctions. These protocols should be disclosed to the public as well as to HUD.
- Implement an effective system for homeowner appeals of servicer loss mitigation decisions. As previously described in connection with the need to enhance loss mitigation oversight generally, the National Servicing Center (NSC) currently takes borrower complaints and often works with the borrower and servicer to solve loss mitigation problems. We have suggested ways in which the NSC's role can be strengthened. Homeowners facing problems with loss mitigation after loan sales need access to the same type of effective dispute resolution process.
- Establish an effective system of monitoring and enforcing loss mitigation requirements for new owners and servicers. Servicers and new loan owners should be required to document compliance with post-sale requirements for a time certain following a note sale. Although HUD has begun to set some minimal requirements for loan buyers, such as the review for a modification similar to a HAMP modification, HUD has not disclosed what the consequences will be if the buyer ignores the requirement. Nor has HUD disclosed what remedies it will provide for homeowners harmed by the buyer's non-compliance. HUD needs to articulate clear consequences, enforce them, and ensure that homeowners are made whole if a buyer or its assignee ignores HUD requirements.
- Bar from future auctions buyers who have purchased FHA loans in the past but systemically violated loss mitigation standards and other program requirements. Investors with a record of violating post-sale FHA requirements should not be able to continue to profit from the sales without complying with rules intended to ensure that the program meets it goals.
- Require reporting for post-sale loss mitigation activities, including data to show the levels and nature of payment changes, and old and new borrower debt-to-income ratios. HUD's rationale for the note sale program in part is the potential for better outcomes for homeowners. It is essential to better track the sustainability of outcomes.
- Mandate post-sale reporting of demographic and geographic data about homeowners, loss mitigation, and loan performance. The foreclosure crisis hit hardest in communities of color. It is crucial to ensure that sales and outcomes are monitored so that policies are implemented fairly and without disparate impact.
- **Report data on subsequent sales and rentals involving the properties.** Any assessment of the utility of the DASP sales, especially in light of the loss of access to FHA loss mitigation options, must be evaluated in light of the ultimate disposition of the properties involved.

- Establish a clear rule that post-sale reporting requirements are binding on subsequent buyers of the loans. Investors should not be able to "launder" the notes by selling them again. The importance of post-sale measures is not diminished simply because a loan has been sold again.
- Assess meaningful financial penalties for substantial noncompliance with reporting requirements and bidding contract terms. Oversight of the DASP sales only can be done well where there is adequate information about the sale outcomes and adherence to program guidelines. The availability of penalties for substantial problems with reporting or contract compliance will improve investor performance post-sale. Because bidding contract terms include loss mitigation requirements, where applicable, enforcement of such rules is an essential part of enhancing sustainable outcomes.
- Direct the immediate public release of all post-sale management reports and supporting documentation. HUD has developed reporting standards for DASP buyers. The public should know what HUD asks in these reports and how frequently buyers must submit them. So far, the public does not have access to HUD's post-sale reviews. These provide essential insights into the agency's stewardship of its mission and the efficacy of the DASP sales as a tool for meeting our national housing goals. These reports and related documentation must be made available to ensure public accountability and transparency for the program.
- Establish procedures to promote participation by non-profits and mission-driven entities. Auctions should be set up to facilitate participation by non-profits and other mission-driven entities by creating some smaller loan sale pools and allowing direct sales of individual defaulted loans to non-profits and government entities. These organizations share HUD's mission of sustainable homeownership and can promote better DASP out-

FHA loans are the primary means for African-American and Hispanic families to achieve ownership. The unnecessary loss of FHA homeownership forces these households into the rental market. Families often pay 50% or more of income for rental housing, while losing out on accruing wealth through homeownership. In many cases, these outcomes are avoidable. comes. As an additional protection for communities facing blight, HUD should bar loan purchasers and their assigns from releasing liens on vacant properties and walking away from them. The Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA) announced a similar requirement for GSE non-performing loan sales in April 2016.

VI. CONCLUSION

HUD's heavy reliance on note sales to cut losses from the insurance fund, minimizing more basic measures such as enforcing loss mitigation requirements, detracts from the achievement of important national housing goals. The American homeownership rate is at a 20-year low.¹⁹⁵ The ongoing erosion of homeownership from low-income families is likely to be of long duration, and for some families will be permanent. Low- and moderate-income communities have been substantially altered by mass foreclosures. In recent decades, FHA loans have been the primary means for African-American and Hispanic families to achieve homeownership.¹⁹⁶ The unnecessary loss of FHA homeownership forces these households into the rental market. As rents around the country rise, the families pay increasingly high percentages of their income for housing, often 50% or more,¹⁹⁷ while losing out on accruing wealth through homeownership. Instead of being pillars of stable communities, former homeowners must flee to wherever they can temporarily afford the rent. In a substantial number of cases, these outcomes are avoidable.

Vigorous enforcement of HUD's loss mitigation rules would preserve homeownership and stabilize communities better than essentially unrestricted sales of the loans, often to financial speculators. To date, however, HUD has not held its major servicers accountable for their non-compliance with HUD's own servicing rules. In the end, the mortgage servicers who caused the crisis for the FHA insurance fund walk away the winners. HUD pays the servicers' inflated claims and the servicers often evade state laws meant to promote Vigorous enforcement of HUD's loss mitigation rules would preserve homeownership and stabilize communities better than essentially unrestricted sales of the loans, often to financial speculators.

sustainable homeownership. The note sale program should continue only if it can be transformed to benefit homeowners, communities, and the Fund while preventing FHA servicers from escaping their obligations under FHA's rules and avoiding accountability under state law for their conduct.

ENDNOTES

- 1. 42 U.S.C. 1441.
- 2. U. S. Dept. of HUD: "The Federal Housing Administration (FHA), Official HUD website http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/housing/fhahistory.
- 3. U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. *Annual Report to Congress The Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund* Fiscal Year 2015 (Nov. 16, 2015) p. 14.
- 4. *Id.* U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. *Annual Report to Congress The Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund* Fiscal Year 2015 (Nov. 16, 2015) p. 14.
- 5. FHA Status of the Mutual Ins. Fund FY 2015 p.6.
- 6. FHA Status of the Mutual Ins. Fund FY 2015 p.6
- 7. U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. *Annual Report to Congress The Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund* Fiscal Year 2015 (Nov. 16, 2015) p. 14.
- 8. 12 USC 1708(a)(7).
- 9. Kate Berry, "Banks Cede Market Share to (Gulp) Thinly-Capitalized Non-Banks", *National Mortgage News* (Apr. 6, 2015), *available at* http://www.nationalmortgagenews.com/news/origination/banks-cede-fha-market-share-to-gulp-thinly-capitalized-nonbanks-1048041-1.html.
- 10. *Id.* p. 21
- 11. 12 U.S.C. § 1715u.
- 12. HUD Handbook 4000.1 at p. 591 (pdf version March 2016) (effective March 14, 2016). *See also* HUD Mortgagee Letter 2013-32 (Sept. 30, 2013).
- 13. HUD Mortgagee Letter 2012-22 (Nov. 16, 2012); HUD Mortgagee Letter 2013-32 (Sept. 30, 2013)
- 14. 24 C.F.R. § 203.605(a); 24 C.F.R. § 203.606.
- 15. *See* U.S. Dep't of Hous. & Urban Dev., Mortgagee Letter 2013-39 (Oct. 28, 2013); HUD Handbook 4000.1 p. 569 (pdf version March 2016) Part III A.2.
- 16. HUD Mortgagee Letter 2013-39 at 3.
- 17. 24 C.F.R. § 203.605.
- 18. *See* U.S. Dep't of Hous. & Urban Dev., Mortgagee Letter 2013-40 (Nov. 1, 2013); HUD Handbook 4000.1 p. 584 (pdf version March 2016), Part III.A.2.i.
- See, e.g., Mathews v. PHH Mortg. Corp., 724 S.E. 2d 196 (Va. 2012); Pfeifer v Countrywide Home Loans, 21 Cal. App. 4th 1250 (2012); Lacy-McKinney v. Taylor Bean & Whitaker Mortg. Corp., 937 N.E. 2d 853 (Ind. Ct. App. 2010); U.S. Bank v. Detweiler, 946 N.E. 2d 777 (Ohio Ct. App. 2010).
- 20. Legislation enacted as part of HUD's 1999 appropriations authorized HUD to make advance payment of FHA insurance claims to lenders in connection with future loan sales. 12 U.S.C. § 1710(a)(1)(A). The legislation authorizes HUD to pay the claims upon assignment of the mortgage from the lender when at least three full monthly installments are due on the loan.
- 21. HUD program description *available at* http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/press/press_releases_media_advisories/2012/HUDNo.12-116.
- 22. HUD publishes summaries of results of DASP auctions at http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/ HUD?src=/program_offices/housing/comp/asset/sfam/sfls.
- 23. *See e.g.* U.S. Dept. of HUD Single Family Loan Sale 2012-3 Conveyance, Assignment and Assumption Agreement at http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=3caafinal.pdf.
- 24. Neighborhood Stabilization Outcome Target Pool Mortgage Loan Rider at http://portal.hud.gov/ hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=targetpool.pdf; http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/ huddoc?id=sopoolqua.pdf.
- 25. HUD summarizes results of DASP auctions, including number of loans sold, at http://portal.hud .gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/housing/comp/asset/sfam/sfls.
- 26. U.S. Dept. of HUD Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale

Program (January 22, 2016) p. 6 available at: http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc? id=resultsummary.pdf.

- 27. Id.
- 28. Auction results for the DASP loan sales conducted since 2010 are summarized at http://portal.hud .gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/housing/comp/asset/sfam/sfls.
- 29. Id.
- 30. For example, HUD requires that its servicers give borrowers a form of notice at a fixed time after a default. 24 C.F.R. § 203.602.
- 31. The Reinvestment Fund, *Philadelphia Residential Mortgage Foreclosure Diversion Program: Initial Report and Findings* (June 2011), available at https://www.reinvestment.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/ Foreclosure_Diversion_Initial_Report-Report_2011.pdf.
- 32. Id. at 9.
- 33. Id.
- 34. Id. at 9–10.
- 35. *Id.* at 12.
- 36. *Id.* at 13–14.
- 37. *Id.* at 15.
- 38. Mr. Cruz tells his own story in the Univision Spanish language news report available at http://www.univision.com/philadelphia/wuvp/noticias/vivienda/venta-de-viviendas-deja-a-familias-de-filadelfia-en-la-calle-video.
- 39. Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. 160106 (February 11, 2016).
- 40. These programs are described in detail in the 2012 Report prepared by the National Consumer Law Center, *Rebuilding America How States Can Save Millions of Homes Through Foreclosure Mediation* (Feb. 2012) available at https://www.nclc.org/images/pdf/foreclosure_mortgage/mediation/ report-foreclosure-mediation.pdf.
- 41. State of Connecticut Judicial Branch, *Foreclosure Mediation Program*, Report to the General Assembly, Connecticut Foreclosure Mediation Program (March 1, 2016) App. E. p. 53.
- 42. The New York courts publish annual summaries of data on the New York foreclosure conferences, State of New York Unified Court System, Report of the Chief Administrator of the Courts 2010-2015 available at http://www.nycourts.gov/publications/pdfs/2015ForeclosureReport.pdf
- 43. National Consumer Law Center, *Rebuilding America How States Can Save Millions of Homes Through Foreclosure Mediation* (Feb. 2012).
- 44. Lorenzo Morrison is unrelated to Paulette Morrison, the New York homeowner described in the previous example.
- 45. 12 U.S.C. § 1715u.
- 46. 24 C.F.R. §§ 203.35(a)(10), 203.35(c), 203.605(c), 203.500.
- 47. 24 C.F.R. § 203.356(b).
- 48. The schedules are published in HUD Mortgagee Letter ("ML's") and were revised in 1990, 2001, 2005, 2013, and 2015. See ML 90-4 (August 14, 1990); ML 2001-19 (August 24, 2001); ML 2005-30 (July 12, 2005); ML 2013-38 (October 28, 2013). In HUD Mortgagee Letter 2016-03 (Feb. 5, 2016) (effective Jan. 1, 2016) HUD substantially increased the foreclosure time frames that had been in effect for several decades. Few, if any, of the newly extended time frames reflect changes in state laws.
- 49. ML 2016-03 (Feb. 5, 2016) p. 2.
- 50. HUD Mortgagee Letter 2013-38 (October 28, 2013).
- 51. HUD Mortgagee Letter 2016-03 (Feb. 5, 2016) (effective Jan. 1, 2016).
- 52. *See e.g.* Homeward Residential Inc. v. Gregor, 122 A. 3d 947, 952 (Maine 2015) (responding to servicer's argument that state foreclosure laws had become too complicated to follow: "[t]he law, the rules of evidence, and court processes have not become more complicated in these matters. Applying established law, however, has become more problematic as courts address the problems

the financial industry has created for itself"). The state laws that servicers found challenging often addressed authority to foreclose. These state laws uphold standards of transparency for records of ownership of property and basic contract rights. *See* Deutsche Bank v. Johnston, — P.3d. – 2016 WL 852521 * 8-9 (N.M. Mar. 3, 2016) (the rules for strict compliance for standing to foreclose are "vital because the securitization of mortgages has given rise to a pervasive failure among mortgage holders to comply with the technical requirements underlying the transfer of promissory notes, and more generally the recording of interests in property."); U.S. Bank N.A. v. Ibanez, 941 N.E. 2d 40, 55 (Mass. 2011) ("what is surprising about these cases is not the statement of principles articulated by the court regarding tittle law and the law of foreclosure in Massachusetts, but rather the utter carelessness with which the plaintiff banks documented the titles to their assets." (Cordy, J. concurring).

- 53. U.S. Dept. of HUD, Federal Housing Admin., *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program* (January 22, 2016) p. 7.
- 54. 24 C.F.R. §§ 203.35(a)(10), 203.35(c), 203.605(c), 203.500.
- 55. U.S. Dept. of HUD, Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program (January 22, 2016) p. 4
- 56. ML 2013-38. The states were Florida, Iowa, Maine, New Jersey, New York, and Vermont.
- 57. 24 C.F.R. §203.602.
- 58. 24 C.F.R. § 203.604.
- 59. 24 C.F.R. §203.605.
- 60. 24 C.F.R. § 203.606.
- 61. *New York Times,* October 2, 2010, "Company Stops Insuring Title in Chase Foreclosures" http://www.nytimes.com/2010/10/03/business/economy/03foreclose.html
- 62. April 2011 Interagency Review of Foreclosure Policies and Practices http://www.occ.gov/newsissuances/news-releases/2011/nr-occ-2011-47a.pdf (Inadequate procedures policies and control over all aspects of foreclosure process).
- 63. The investigation targeted Bank of America, JP Morgan Chase and Co., Wells Fargo & Co., Citigroup Inc., and Ally Financial, Inc. (GMAC).
- 64. The New York courts issued a rule requiring that attorneys who filed foreclosure cases to certify that they had taken reasonable steps to verify the accuracy of documents they filed in courts. Servicers' attorneys had to file this certification whenever they requested court action to move a case toward a foreclosure sale. State of New York Unified Court System, The 2012 Report of the Chief Administrator of the Courts, p. 2 https://www.nycourts.gov/publications/pdfs/2012ReportO fChiefAdministratorOfTheCourts.pdf
- 65. New Jersey Administrative Order No. 01-2010 (Jan. 31, 2011) N.J. Court Rule 4:64-1(a) (2), 4:64-2(d). Lender's attorney must attach to complaint a certification that the attorney communicated with the appropriate employee of the entity claiming the right to foreclose. These employees must have personally reviewed the relevant documents and certifying attorneys must provide the names of and state the job responsibility of the employees with whom they communicated. The implementation of the rule coincided with long-term investigations by the state courts into the foreclosure practices of mortgage servicers. New Jersey Courts Press Release Dec. 20, 2010. http://www.judiciary.state.nj.us/superior/press_release.htm
- 66. *New York Times*, October 2, 2010, "Company Stops Insuring Title in Chase Foreclosures" http://www.nytimes.com/2010/10/03/business/economy/03foreclose.html
- 67. Foreclosure Activity at 40-Month Low, RealtyTrac May 10, 2011 http://www.realtytrac.com/ content/foreclosure-market-report/realtytrac-april-2011-foreclosure-activity-report-6578
- 68. *Newark Star Ledger*, June 27, 2011, "After Ruling Halted N.J. Foreclosures, Experts Fear Deluge of Filings," http://www.nj.com/news/index.ssf/2011/06/after_ruling_halted_nj_foreclo.html
- LPS Mortgage Monitor Performance Observations April 2012 pp. 14, 18. http://www.bkfs.com/ CorporateInformation/NewsRoom/MortgageMonitor/201204MortgageMonitor/Mortgage MonitorApril2012.pdf; LPS Mortgage Monitor Performance Observations October 2012 p. 14;

http://www.bkfs.com/CorporateInformation/NewsRoom/MortgageMonitor/201209Mortgage Monitor/Oct2012.pdf

- 70. Id.
- 71. RealtyTrac, Exclusive Report Quarter 1 2013 Foreclosure Inventory Update p. 1
- 72. RealtyTrac, U.S. Foreclosure Market Report for August 2014. (September 9, 2011) http://www .realtytrac.com/content/foreclosure-market-report/august-2014-us-foreclosure-market-report-8137. (showing first annual increase in foreclosure auctions for 44 consecutive months).
- 73. State of New York Unified Court System, The 2012 Report of the Chief Administrator of the Courts, p. 2 https://www.nycourts.gov/publications/pdfs/2012ReportOfChiefAdministratorOfTheCourts..pdf 2013 Report https://www.nycourts.gov/publications/pdfs/2013ForeclosureReport.pdf 2014 Report https://www.nycourts.gov/publications/pdfs/2014-Foreclosure-Report-ofthe-CAJ.pdf
- 74. State of New York Unified Court System, the 2014 Report of the Chief Administrator of the Courts, p. 3.
- 75. Id.
- 76. Id.
- 77. State of New York Unified Court System, The 2013 Report of the Chief Administrator of the Courts, pp. 4–5.
- 78. Id.
- 79. Id.
- 80. Cole et al. v. Baum, No. CV-11-3779 (E.D.N.Y. 2011).
- 81. Stalled Settlement Conferences, Banks Frustrate New York Foreclosure Settlement Conferences: A Report on Residential Foreclosure Settlement Conferences in New York City April 2014 http://www.mfy.org/wp-content/uploads/Stalled-Settlement-Conferences.pdf (tracking compliance in 252 mediation cases).
- 82. RealtyTrac, Foreclosure Activity on Slow Burn (Oct. 11, 2011) listing the ten states with the longest foreclosure time frames as: New York (986 days), New Jersey (974 days).
- 83. See US Bank v. Guillaume, 38 A.3d 570 (N.J. 2012).
- 84. Fannie Mae Announcement SVC-2011-15 (September 1, 2011) directs all new foreclosures in Hawaii to be judicial and stop all non-judicial foreclosures.
- 85. *Washington Times*, Feb. 18, 2013, "Foreclosure Delays, D.C., Maryland Keeping Homes but Losing Values" http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2013/feb/18/foreclosure-delays-come-at-high-cost/?page=all
- 86. D.C. Code §42-815.02, Saving D.C. Homes from Foreclosure Act of 2010 in Nov. 2010, amended 2013; Hawaii Rev. Stat. §667-1 (2011, amended 2013).
- 87. *Center for Public Integrity,* (September 2014, updated January 2015) Alison Fitzgerald, "Homeowners Steamrolled as Florida Courts Clear Foreclosure Backlog," available at http://www.publicintegrity .org/2014/09/10/15463/homeowners-steamrolled-florida-courts-clear-foreclosure-backlog
- 88. The National Mortgage Settlement concluded the investigation commenced in 2010 by the attorneys generals of 49 states and various federal agencies, including the Department of Justice and HUD.
- 89. Id.
- 90. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2010 Q4 (Nov. 4, 2010) pp. 11–12.
- 91. Id.
- 92. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2010 Q4 (Nov. 4, 2010) p.13, FY 2011 Q1 (Mar. 17, 2011) p. 17.
- 93. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2010 Q4 (Nov. 4, 2010) pp. 10-11.
- 94. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2011 Q1 (Mar. 17, 2011) p. 10-11.

- 95. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2011 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (Nov. 15, 2011) p. 29.
- 96. There were 8.7 to 8.8 million FHA-insured mortgages outstanding during the years 2010 2013. The seriously delinquent rate for these mortgages was 8.5% as of September 2010, 9% as of September 2011, 9.8% as of September 2012, and 8.2% as of September 2013. Seriously delinquent includes loans at least 90 days in default and in foreclosure or bankruptcy. U.S. Dept. of HUD, *FHA Single Family Loan Performance Trends Credit Risk Management Reports*, 2013-14; U.S. Dept. of HUD *FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress*, 2011-2014; U.S. Dept. of HUD *Annual Report to Congress Regarding the Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund*, fiscal years 2010-2014. According to these sources, the number of loans first becoming seriously delinquent held to a steady rate during 2009, 2010, and 2011, with about 500,000 new serious delinquencies occurring each year. The annual totals for new delinquencies dropped slightly during 2012 (to about 460,000) and remained well over 400,000 in 2013.
- 97. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2011 Q2 (June 27, 2011) pp. 11–12.
- 98. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2011 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (Nov. 15, 2011) p. 36.
- 99. Id.
- 100. Since 2008, conference and mediation programs appeared in over twenty states. These programs were created under state statutes or court rules. The programs are described in National Consumer Law Center, Rebuilding America How States Can Save Millions of Homes Through Foreclosure Mediation (Feb. 2012) available at https://www.nclc.org/images/pdf/foreclosure_mortgage/ mediation/report-foreclosure-mediation.pdf
- 101. See National Consumer Law Center, Rebuilding America How States Can Save Millions of Homes Through Foreclosure Mediation (Feb. 2012). Part VIII.
- 102. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2011 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (Nov. 15, 2011) p. 36.
- 103. Id.
- 104. Id at p. 37.
- 105. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2011 Q4 (Jan. 31, 2012) p. 9.
- 106. Id.
- 107. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2012 Q3 (Sept. 7, 2012) p. 8; U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2013 Q4 (April 24, 2013) p. 8.
- 108. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2012 Q1 (Mar. 26, 2012) p. 8, 12 ("We anticipate the recent settlement will accelerate foreclosure activity, perhaps within the next two quarters. . . . It is possible that the recent settlement may spark a breaking of the foreclosure back-log that has been affecting the entire mortgage industry since the start of FY 2011.").
- 109. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2012 Q4 (April 24, 2013) p. 8.
- 110. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2013 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (December 13, 2013) p. 27.
- 111. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2013 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (December 13, 2013) p. 26.
- 112. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2013 Q1 (May 15, 2013) p.9. *See also Id* FY 2013 Q2 p. 9 (July 11, 2013); *Id*. FY 2013 Q3 p. 9 (Aug. 23, 2013).

- 113. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2014 Q1 (March 31, 2014) p. 12.
- 114. Id.
- 115. Id. p. 12.
- 116. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2013 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (December 13, 2013) p. 52.
- 117. Id. at pp. 24-26.
- 118. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2012 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (November 16, 2012) p. 53.
- 119. Id.
- 120. Id. at pp. 52-53.
- 121. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2013 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (December 13, 2013) p. 25.
- 122. Id.
- 123. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2015 Q4 (Dec. 4, 2015) p. 23 (Exhibit A-7).
- 124. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2013 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (December 13, 2013) p. 25.
- 125. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Develop. , FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2015 Q4 (Dec. 4, 2015) p. 23 (Exhibit A-7).
- 126. The 2013 DASP note sales averaged a loss severity of 64% measured against the unpaid principal balances due on the loans. The traditional REO sales during 2013 produced loss severities averaging 61%.U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2013 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (December 13, 2013) p. 52.
- 127. Id.
- 128. Id.
- 129. Id. p. 26.
- 130. Id. p. 52.
- 131. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2015 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (Nov. 16, 2015) p. 73.
- 132. Alan M. White, Deleveraging the American Homeowner: The Failure of 2008 Voluntary Mortgage Contract Modifications, 41 Conn. L. Rev. 1107, 1119 (2009).
- 133. U.S. Dept. of HUD Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program (January 22, 2016) p. 2.
- 134. U.S. Dept. of HUD *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program* (data as of August 3, 2015) p. 1.
- 135. Matthew Goldstein, New York Times, April 30, 2014, "Funds for Troubled Mortgages are on the Rise,"; John Gittlesohn and Heather Perlberg, Bloomberg News, "Hedge Funds Boost Bad-Loan Prices as U.S. Sales Increase," August 11, 2014; John Gittlesohn and Clea Benson, Bloomberg News, Dec. 18, 2012, Blackstone, Ranieri Building on Bad FHA Loans; Heather Perlberg, Bloomberg News, May 8, 2015., "House Flippers are Back Together with Wall Street – What Could Possibly Go Wrong?"
- 136. U.S. Dept. of HUD. , *FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2015 Q4* (Dec. 2, 2015) p. 23. HUD's losses on post-foreclosure REO sales were 71.7% of the unpaid balance on loans in 2011. In 2105 the average losses were 56.65 percent of the unpaid balances.
- 137. U.S. Dept. of HUD, FHA Single-Family Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund Programs Quarterly Report to Congress FY 2015 Q4 (Dec. 2, 2015) p. 23.

138. Id.

139. GAO Foreclosure Mitigation: Agencies Could Improve Effectiveness of Federal Efforts with Additional Data Collection and Analysis (GAO Report 12-296 (June 2012) p. 15.

- 140. U.S. Dept. of Treasury, Making Home Affordable Program Performance Report Through Fourth Quarter of 2015 p. 8.
- 141. Office of the Comptroller of the Currency *Mortgage Metrics Report (Disclosures of National Bank Mortgage Loan Data Third Quarter 2015 (Dec. 2015)* p. 36.
- 142. GAO Foreclosure Mitigation: Agencies Could Improve Effectiveness of Federal Efforts with Additional Data Collection and Analysis (GAO Report 12-296 (June 2012) p. 58.
- 143. HUD Mortgagee Letter 2009-23 (July 30, 2009).
- 144. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2015 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (Nov. 16, 2015) p. 73
- 145. GAO Foreclosure Mitigation: Agencies Could Improve Effectiveness of Federal Efforts with Additional Data Collection and Analysis (GAO Report 12-296 (June 2012) p. 48.
- 146. Id. at p. 10
- 147. U.S. Dept. of HUD Annual Report to Congress Fiscal Year 2011 Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (Nov. 15, 2011) pp. 25–27.
- 148. GAO Foreclosure Mitigation: Agencies Could Improve Effectiveness of Federal Efforts with Additional Data Collection and Analysis (GAO Report 12-296 (June 2012) p. 55–56; Office of the Comptroller of the Currency Mortgage Metrics Report (Disclosures of National Bank Mortgage Loan Data Third Quarter 2015 (Dec. 2015) p. 37.
- 149. GAO Foreclosure Mitigation: Agencies Could Improve Effectiveness of Federal Efforts with Additional Data Collection and Analysis (GAO Report 12-296 (June 2012) p. 55–56.
- 150. *See e.g.* U.S. Dept. of HUD Sale Results Summaries: Single Family Loan Sale 2014-2 Part 2 (Sept. 2014) p. 2; Single Family Loan Sale 2014-1 Part 2 (Dec. 2103) p. 2.
- 151. GAO Foreclosure Mitigation: Agencies Could Improve Effectiveness of Federal Efforts with Additional Data Collection and Analysis (GAO Report 12-296 (June 2012) pp. 58–62.
- 152. Id. pp. 61-62.
- 153. Id.
- 154. Id. p. 70.
- 155. Abt Associates, *FHA Asset Sales Study Final Report* (October 1998) p. 47 n. 32. available at http://www.abtassociates.com/reports/D19981269.pdf (this was a HUD-commissioned study).
- 156. In April 2015, HUD announced that it was going to require buyers of loans at future DASP sales to review borrowers for a "HAMP-like" modification. To date, HUD has not released any details about what this vague term means. HUD has not disclosed any mechanism for enforcing such a standard. *See* HUD Press Room: "HUD Announces Changes to Distressed Asset Stabilization Program" Press Release April 24, 2015.
- 157. Abt Associates, FHA Asset Sales Study Final Report, supra, pp. 47–48, 52.
- 158. U.S. Dept. of HUD *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program* (January 22, 2016) p. 44 (HUD did not include status data for approximately 10% of the loans from this sale that DASP purchasers had already sold to new buyers).
- 159. Federal Housing Finance Agency, *FHFA's Analysis of a Principal Reduction Modification Program and Enhanced Non-Performing Loan Sales Requirements* (April 14, 2016) at http://www.fhfa.gov/Media/ PublicAffairs/Pages/FHFA-Announces-PRM-Program-and-Further-Enhancements-to-NPL-Sales-Reqts.aspx
- 160. Prepared Remarks of Secretary Shaun Donovan at Press Conference Announcing Distressed Asset Stabilization Program June 8, 2012. (HUD Press Room Speech 06082012)
- 161. HUD Public Affairs Press Release No. 12-116 July 18, 2012 HUD Accepting Applications for Entities to Purchase Troubled Mortgages, Offer Chance to Avoid Costly Foreclosures and Stabilize Neighborhoods.
- 162. Id.
- 163. U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program* (January 22, 2016) p. 8.

- 164. U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program (data from August 3, 2015 and January 22, 2016); U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program (data as of February 6, 2015); U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. Quarterly Report on FHA Single Family Loan Sales (data as of May 30, 2014).
- 165. U.S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program* (January 22, 2016) p. 11. An additional 15,000 loans had been sold by DASP buyers to new owners. HUD did not report information on the status of these loans. *Id.*
- 166. Id. p. 54
- 167. Id. p. 4.
- 168. Id. p. 11
- 169. Id.
- 170. Id.
- 171. Id. 9
- 172. Id. p. 54.
- 173. *See e.g.* Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, *OCC Mortgage Metrics Report* (Third Quarter 2015, December 2015) pp. 17-29, at http://www.occ.treas.gov/publications/publications-by-type/other-publications-reports/mortgage-metrics/mortgage-metrics-q3-2015.pdf.
- 174. Archive of Making Home Affordable Performance Reports available from U.S. Treasury at https://www.hmpadmin.com/portal/news/press_archives.jsp
- 175. U.S. Dept. of HUD, *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program*, data as of January 22, 2016, p. 44. The same entry indicates that of the total of 27,580 loans sold in this sale approximately 3,000 had already been transferred by the initial buyers. HUD did not provide any data about the status of these loans.
- 176. Caliber Modification Agreement Five Year Limited Term Interest Only, available at http://www.nclc.org/issues/opportunity-denied.html.
- 177. Id. ¶ 3.
- 178. Selene Finance Trial Modification Plan ; Rushmore Loan Management Services, LLC Trial Modification Agreement, both at http://www.nclc.org/issues/opportunity-denied.html.
- 179. Bayview "Loan Adjustment Agreement" ¶ 11. Available at http://www.nclc.org/issues/ opportunity-denied.html.
- 180. U.S. Dep't of Hous. & Urban Dev., HUD Press Room, "HUD Announces Changes to Distressed Asset Stabilization Program," No. 15-048 (April 24, 2015)
- 181. In contrast with HUD's post-sale requirement, note sales of Fannie Mae conducted through the Federal Housing Finance Agency have an explicit HAMP review requirement. *See* Fannie Mae, *Fannie Mae NPL Sales Auction Process; Bidder Qualification Request, Servicer Eligibility* (June 25, 2015) *available at* http://www.fanniemae.com/resources/file/npl/npl-training-presentation.pdf.
- 182. HUD's Neighborhood Watch site gives detailed breakdowns of servicer portfolio size for FHA loans. https://entp.hud.gov/sfnw/public/. As of early 2016, the largest FHA services were: Wells Fargo, JP Morgan Chase, U.S. Bank, and Bank of America. Bank of America ranked higher in past years, but recently sold off significant portions of its FHA portfolio, as described in this Report.
- 183. U.S. Dept. of HUD Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale *Program* (January 22, 2015) p. 8.
- 184. See e.g. Lone Star Funds, Fund Investment Periods as of Sept. 30, 2015 reported at Lone Star Funds website: http://www.lonestarfunds.com/funds-raised/. Referenced in Connie M. Razza, Vulture Capitalism Hits Home Center for Popular Democracy (2015). See also Jared Bennett, "The Government is Selling Thousands of Homes to Hedge Funds Without their Owners' Knowledge" The Atlantic Sept. 23, 2015; Matthew Goldstein, "As Banks Retreat, Private Equity Rushes to Buy Troubled Home Mortgages" New York Times Sept. 28, 2015 (referencing confidential Lone Star delinquent mortgage offering document).

- 185. U.S. Dept. of HUD *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program* (January 22, 2016) p. 8. *See also* Sarah Edelman, *et al, Is the FHA Distressed Asset Stabilization Program Meeting its Goals*? Center for American Progress (September 2014) pp. 7–9.
- 186. Heather Perlberg, Bloomberg Business News Aug. 24, 2015, "BlackRock Said to Start Financing Rental-Home Investors"; Heather Perlberg, Bloomberg Business Feb. 26, 2015 "Cerberus Joins the Wall Street landlord Club"; John Gittlesohn and Clea Benson, Bloomberg Business News, Dec. 18, 2012, "Blackstone, Ranieri Betting on Bad FHA Loans"
- 187. Sarah Edelman, et al, Is the FHA Distressed Asset Stabilization Program Meeting its Goals? Center for American Progress (September 2014) pp. 7–9, available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/09/Edelman-DASP-report.pdf; Matthew Goldstein, "Equity Firms are Lending to Landlords, Signaling a Shift" New York Times March 3, 2015.
- 188. Tom Schoenberg, et al., *BofA to pay \$16.7 Billion to End U.S. Mortgage Probes*, Bloomberg.com (Aug. 21, 2014), *available at* http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2014-08-21/bofa-agrees-to-pay-16-65-billion-to-end-u-s-mortgage-probes, ("Countrywide has been blamed by lawmakers and regulators for using lax underwriting standards and predatory lending that fueled its ascent to the biggest U.S. mortgage lender before its collapse and \$2.5 billion sale to Bank of America.")
- 189. William D. Cohan, *The Atlantic* (October 2013) "Why Wall Street Loves Houses Again,," John Gittlesohn and Clea Benson, *Bloomberg Business News*, Dec., 18, 2012, "Blackstone, Ranieri Betting on Bad FHA Loans"
- 190. Matthew Goldstein, *New York Times* Sept. 28, 2015, "As Banks Retreat, Private Equity Rushes to Buy Troubled Home Mortgages." ("In the first half of 2015, Fitch ratings said of the loans it had reviewed Caliber had not completed any modifications that included permanent principal reductions.")
- 191. U.S. Dept. of HUD *Report to the Commissioner on Post-Sale Reporting FHA Single Family Loan Sale Program* (January 22, 2016) p. 34 (describing SFLS 2013-2 National Pools Sale June 26, 2013 consisting of 13,149 loans. These figures pertain to the 79% of the loans that the new servicers reported as "resolved" since the June 2013 DASP sale date.
- 192. Id.
- 193. Lone Star Investment Funds website: About Lone Star Investment Approach http://www .lonestarfunds.com/about-us/our-business/ Referenced in Connie M. Razza, *Vulture Capitalism Hits Home* Center for Popular Democracy (2015).
- 194. Diane E. Thompson, Foreclosing Modifications: How Servicers Incentives Discourage Loan Modifications, 86 Wash. L. Rev. 755 (Dec. 2011); Adam J. Levitin and Tara Twomey, Mortgage Servicing, 28 Yale J. on Reg. 1 (2011) available at http://www.nclc.org/images/pdf/foreclosure_mortgage/ mortgage_servicing/mortgage_servicing_levitin_and_twomey_win2011.pdf.
- 195. *The State of the Nation's Housing 2015* Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard Univ. (2015) p. 19.
- 196. In fiscal year 2015 82 percent of FHA purchase loans were for first-time homebuyers. In calendar year 2014, FHA provided financing for 43 percent of all African-American borrowers, and 44 percent of all Hispanic borrowers. U. S. Dept. of HUD Federal Housing Admin. *Annual Report to Congress The Financial Status of the FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund* Fiscal Year 2015 (Nov. 16, 2015) p. 14.
- 197. *The State of the Nation's Housing 2015* Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard Univ. (2015) p. 5 "In 2013, almost half of all renters had housing cost burdens, including more than a quarter with severe burdens (paying more than 50 percent of income for housing)."

Boston Headquarters: 7 Winthrop Square Boston, MA 02110-1245 Phone: 617/542-8010 Fax: 617/542-8028 www.nclc.org

NCLC® NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER®

Advancing Fairness in the Marketplace for All

Washington Office: 1001 Connecticut Ave, NW Suite 510 Washington, DC, 20036 Phone: 202/452-6252 Fax: 202/463-9462